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l. Introduction

This is a claim to recoup the $70,938 in Partnership funds that were paid out for the
gross receipt taxes (“GRT”) of the United Corporation’s Shopping Center rents from 2012
through March 8, 2015. The United Corporation’s Shopping Center (handled through the bank
account called the “Tenant Account”) is a completely separate entity that has no relation to the
Partnership. Yusuf family members are the sole shareholders of the United Corporation and
its Shopping Center.

Plaza Extra East is located in the United Shopping Center. The United Corporation
owns the building where the Partnership’s Plaza Extra East grocery store is located. Fathi
Yusuf, one of the shareholders of the United Corporation, alleged that prior to 1986 (which was
before the establishment of the Partnership), Mohammad Hamed entered into an oral contract
that the Partnership would pay the gross receipts on all non-Partnership rents collected by the
United Shopping Center in exchange for a “very, very low, $3 a square foot” rental rate and the
ability to deduct the depreciation of the entire Shopping Center on the Partnership’s annual
taxes. Mr. Hamed never testified to such an agreement.

Fathi Yusuf’'s statement that there was an alleged agreement on Mohammad Hamed'’s
behalf to pay United’s Shopping Center gross receipt taxes fails for three reasons: 1) a mere
assertion of a contrary statement (that there was an agreement between the Partners) without
supportive facts does not create a genuine dispute as to a material fact; 2) Yusuf's assertation
of an oral contract that the Partnership would pay the United Shopping Center’s gross receipt
taxes is belied by how the Partners actually acted with respect to this so-called agreement; and
3) no additional evidentiary hearing is required because the two principal actors as to this
alleged agreement have already been deposed and subject to cross-examination, and one, Mr.

Hamed, is no longer available.
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has the burden to demonstrate there is no genuine issue of material fact; 2) the burden shifts
to the non-moving party to present contrary evidence showing a genuine issue for trial and 3)
the reviewing court most consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving
party. Rymer v. Kmart Corp., 68 V.l. 571, 575-76, 2018 WL 461388, at *2 (V.l. Jan. 18, 2018)

1.

Standard of Review

The applicable standard of review for summary judgment is as follows: 1) the movant

Hamed’s Statement of Material Facts Not in Dispute

The United Shopping Center is owned wholly by the United Corporation, a Yusuf family-
owned corporation. (Group Exhibit 1) Excluding the Plaza Extra East grocery store, the
United Shopping Center has approximately 30 stores and 15 office suites available for rent,

with approximately 65,000 in total square footage. (Exhibit 2)

Alleged Agreement between Fathi Yusuf and Mohammad Hamed

2. Fathi Yusuf testified that he and Mr. Mohammad Hamed agreed that the Partnership would

pay for the gross receipt taxes (“GRT") of the Yusuf family-owned United Shopping Center
before the Partnership came into existence in 1986. Neither Fathi Yusuf nor the United

Corporation produced documentation substantiating this alleged agreement. (Exhibits 8,

Q. [Ms. Perrell] So when | say United, I'm talking about United that is your family's
entity that owns real estate and the shopping center and so forth.

* * * *
Q. [Ms. Perrell] . . . Has United made a claim in this lawsuit --
A. [FATHI YUSUF] Yes.
Q. -- to recover gross receipts that has been paid by the United on behalf of
receipts from tenants that United believes should have been paid by the
partnership?
A. It should have. That's the agreement between me and Mr. Mohammad Hamed,
is the rent, it was very, very low, $3 a square foot. . . .

* * * *
Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . . Let's talk a little bit about the original deal back with you
and Mr. Mohammad Hamed, okay? Back when -- when you say that you agreed
about gross receipts tax and insurance, that you weren't going to pay it, okay?
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When was that? Do you remember, was that like in 1986 when you first started?
A. [FATHI YUSUF] Before 1986.

Q. Before there was a partnership --

A. Yes. (Exhibit 3)

3. According to Fathi Yusuf, Mohammad Hamed did not agree to have the Partnership pay
the gross receipt taxes of the United Shopping Center. Fathi Yusuf testified in his 2020
deposition that Mr. Mohammad Hamed never specifically agreed to have the Partnership
pay the gross receipt taxes for the Yusuf family-owned United Shopping Center, rather
“wlhat he [Mr. Hamed] said, he never say nothing. Whatever | say goes. And he [Mr.
Hamed] accepted it.”

Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . . Let's talk a little bit about the original deal back with you
and Mr. Mohammad Hamed, okay? Back when -- when you say that you agreed
about gross receipts tax and insurance, that you weren't going to pay it, okay?
When was that? Do you remember, was that like in 1986 when you first started?
A. [FATHI YUSUF] Before 1986.
Q. Before there was a partnership --
A. Yes.

* * * *
Q. Tell me a little bit about how that took place. Like, if you remember kind of like
what he said and what you said.
A. What he said, he never say nothing. Whatever | say goes.

*

* * *

A. And he accepted it. (Exhibit 3)
Later in his deposition in 2020, Mr. Yusuf reiterated the fact that Mr. Mohammad Hamed
never said anything in response to Yusuf's alleged agreement that the Partnership would
pay for the United Shopping Center’s gross receipt taxes.

Q. [Mr. Hartmann]-- you said to him, The grocery store's got to pay the receipts,
not only for the grocery store, but also for my -- what your lawyer called the part
of United that is just the Yusuf, I'll call it Yusuf's United. So the gross receipts tax
would be paid not only for the grocery store, but also for Yusufs' United?

A. [FATHI YUSUF] Um-hum.

Q. And you said that you told him that?

A. Yeah.

Q. And he never said anything?

A. He never said. And then | explain to him. (Exhibit 3)
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4.

5.

6.

It is undisputed that no one other than Fathi Yusuf has testified that there was an agreement
between Yusuf and Mohammad Hamed to have the Partnership pay the GRTs of the United
Shopping Center. For example, Waleed “Wally” Hamed said his father did not tell him of
such an agreement and he was unaware that this agreement existed.

[Ms. Perrell]. . . .The first question | have is, were you aware of the agreement
between Mr. Fathi Yusuf and your father, Mohammad Hamed, that Mr. Yusuf
testified to that the grocery store operations, the partnership, would ultimately pay
all of the gross receipts for the shopping center? Were you aware of that?

A. [WALLY HAMED] No.

* * * *

Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . .. Did you have any conversations -- so if you
weren't aware of it, that means you also, just to clarify,

didn't discuss that issue with your father, correct?

A. [WALLY HAMED] That's correct. (Exhibit 3)

It is undisputed that Maher “Mike” Yusuf, Fathi Yusuf's oldest son and current President of
the United Corporation, did not know of the alleged agreement between his father and
Mohammad Hamed to have the Partnership pay the GRTs of the United Shopping Center.
[Ms. Perrell] . .. .Did you have any conversations with your father prior to the time
that he went over to St. Thomas about how the gross receipts issues were

supposed to be resolved with the shopping center?
A. [MAHER YUSUF] No.

* * * *

Q..... All right. And when you issued the check, did you have any idea whether

there had already been a prior arrangement between your father and Mr. Hamed?

A. No, I didn't know the details back then. (Exhibit 3)
It is undisputed that Mufeed “Mafi” Hamed, who worked in the Plaza Extra East store, did
not know of the alleged agreement between his father and Fathi Yusuf to have the
Partnership pay the GRTs of the United Shopping Center. Further, Mafi Hamed stated that
his father would have told him had such an agreement existed because his father discussed
everything owed to Mr. Yusuf with him and his brothers.

Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .You're not aware -- you were not present during the meeting

that Mr. Yusuf had with Mr. Mohammad Hamed, your father, that he testified

about earlier regarding how the gross receipts for the shopping center were to be
paid; isn't that correct?
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A. [MAFI HAMED] Yeah, that's correct, but just because he says it, that doesn't
mean it's true.
Q. But you weren't present for the conversation, sir, you don't know, correct?
A. No, I don't know.
Q..... All right. And you never discussed that with your father, correct?
A. No. My father would discuss everything that was owed to Mr. Yusuf and we
would know about it.

* * * *
A. [MAFI HAMED] He wouldn't keep anything out. He wouldn't have these secret
meetings. He wouldn't have any of these other situation. My father's an honorable
man. He's an honest man, and he was to his word. (Exhibit 3)

Rationale for Partnership to Pay United Shopping Center's GRTs & Property Insurance

7. Mr. Yusuf testified in his January 21, 2020 deposition that in the beginning of the Partnership
he told Mr. Hamed that he would rent the space for the Plaza Extra East store to the
Partnership for a low rate of $3 per square foot. In exchange for that rental rate, Mr. Yusuf
stated that the Partnership would allegedly have to pay for the Yusuf family-owned United
Shopping Center’s gross receipt taxes and insurance.

Q. [Ms. Perrell] So when | say United, I'm talking about United that is your family's
entity that owns real estate and the shopping center and so forth.

* * * *
Q. [Ms. Perrell] . . . Has United made a claim in this lawsuit --
A. [FATHI YUSUF] Yes.
Q. -- to recover gross receipts that has been paid by the United on behalf of
receipts from tenants that United believes should have been paid by the
partnership?
A. It should have. That's the agreement between me and Mr. Mohammad Hamed,
is the rent, it was very, very low, $3 a square foot. . . .

* * * *
A. [FATHI YUSUF] . . . .I know we're going to face a project in the millions, at
least $3- to $4 million. And | know my brother-in-law have nothing beside what
he save, 400,000. So for us to go into a big business way above our financial
capacity, we have no choice but to hit a lending institute. And from experience,
nobody will lend any money without taking United Shopping Center as a
collateral, and the house, and the owner personal financial guarantee. And based
on that, | say, Listen, | am giving you this $3 a square foot, but I'm not paying no
insurance, I'm not paying no gross receipt. The store have to take care of it.
(Exhibit 3)
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8. Contrary to Fathi Yusuf's deposition testimony on January 21, 2020, on April 27, 2015,
Judge Brady made a factual finding in his Order that rent from 1986-2004 was charged at
$5.55 per square foot for the Plaza Extra East store.

Yusuf specifically addresses how rent is calculated ($5.55 per square foot),
stating that the past due rent is "the same as the old one," referring to the 1986 -
1994 rental amounts. . . .Yusuf presents more than sufficient evidence that the
Partnership's arrangement with United from 1986 to 1994 was identical, in terms
of past due rent, as the arrangement between 1994 through 2004. (Exhibit 12,

p. 9)

9. Judge Brady also found in his April 27, 2015 Order that rent from 2012-March 8, 2015 was
to be charged at a rate of $10.12 per square foot (Plaza Extra East grocery store is 69,680
square feet and rent was $58,791.38 per month) (Exhibit 12, pp. 2, 11-12), the same
amount of rent charged for 2004-2011. (Exhibit 12, p. 10)

The proof before the Court is clear as to United's claim that rent is due for Bay
No. 1 at the rate of $58,791.38 per month from January 1, 2012 to September
30, 2013. . .[T]he Liquidating Partner, under the supervision of the Master, is
authorized and directed to pay. . . additional rents that have come due from
October 1, 2013 at the rate of $58,791.38 per month, until the date that Yusuf
assumed full possession and control of Plaza Extra - East. (Exhibit 12, pp. 11-
12)

10.0n January 21, 2020, Mr. Yusuf also testified to another alleged trade-off for the agreement
that the Partnership would pay the gross receipt taxes and property insurance for the Yusuf
family-owned United Shopping Center. In exchange for paying the gross receipt taxes for
the Yusuf family owned United Shopping Center, the Partnership would get the full
depreciation of the United Shopping Center on its taxes.

Q. [Mr. Hartmann]-- you said to him, The grocery store's got to pay the receipts,
not only for the grocery store, but also for my -- what your lawyer called the part
of United that is just the Yusuf, I'll call it Yusuf's United. So the gross receipts tax
would be paid not only for the grocery store, but also for Yusufs' United?

A. [FATHI YUSUF] Um-hum.

Q. And you said that you told him that?

A. Yeah.

Q. And he never said anything?

A. He never said. And then | explain to him.
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* * * *

A. All my building depreciation, two-and-a-half --two-and-a-half, $3 million, it
being wiped out, credit, to the income of this partnership. So Mohammad Hamed,
he getting depreciation on something that he don't even own.

Q..... Could you use a depreciation at the time?

A. Sure.

Q. Did you have enough income?

A. Yeah.

A. All the -- my building value, it being wiped out completely to the partnership.
(Exhibit 3)

11.In an earlier deposition, on April 2, 2014, Fathi Yusuf testified under oath that he and Mr.
Hamed were partners, but there were a lot of conditions Mr. Hamed had to agree to as a
basis of that partnership. Mr. Yusuf stated that “I have the final word,” with respect to the
Partnership. Mr. Yusuf explained that the United Corporation was supposed to have an
office free of charge in the supermarket and the Partnership would pay all of the gross
receipts and insurance for the entire building of the United Shopping Plaza. Yusuf explained
it as a trade-off: the Partnership took the depreciation of the whole United Shopping Plaza
on its taxes in exchange for the Partnership paying the United Shopping Center’s the gross
receipts taxes and insurance.

[FATHI YUSUF] | have, with this gentleman, a shake-hand commitment, and |
live up to it up to now, just to show you how clean | am and how decent | am, this
man never have my signature as a partner, but | have never deny him as a partner
in the profit. But there is a lot of condition, he have to live up to it.

* * * *

[Attorney Holt] Are there some other conditions to this partnership agreement?
A. [FATHI YUSUF] No. The condition is, | have the final word. It's | am obligated
to consult with him, if | see it's important for me to consult. | was suppose to be,
after 1993, | was supposed to have an office within the supermarket free of
charge. | was -- he was supposed to, the Plaza Extra was supposed to pay all
the gross receipt from January 1st, 1994 up to present, and it was covering in the
building, the entire building of United Shopping Plaza. My duty was, is to go and
commit the same

thing we ensure, to bring money to Mr. Hamed an extent, which cost him nothing.
It cost me personal guarantee, and it costing me everything | own except my
children and my wife.
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* * * *

Q. Okay. So the Plaza Extra stores would pay for insurance on the whole
shopping center?

A. Yes.

Q. And the Plaza Extra Supermarket would pay the gross receipts, not just on the
grocery store profits, but on the rent?

A. Yes.

* * * *

A. ... One more item. The United Shopping Plaza was using the entire shopping
center value depreciation to offset any income tax, which that, in return, it will give
you greater saving than the insurance and the gross receipt.

Q. So there's a tradeoff you're giving them --

A. It's a tradeoff, yes.

Q. You're giving them depreciation; they're paying gross receipts and insurance?
A. Yes. Yes, sir. (Exhibit 4)

12.1tis undisputed that Fathi Yusuf and the United Corporation have not provided any evidence
that the Partnership got the depreciation value of the United Shopping Center on its taxes
from 2012-March 8, 2015, the time period of this claim. (Exhibit 8)

1986-1992 Payment of United Shopping Center’'s GRTs

13.From 1986 to 1992, Fathi Yusuf testified in his 2020 deposition that the Partnership paid for
the Yusuf family-owned United Corporation Shopping Center’s gross receipt taxes.

Q. [Ms. Perrell] How did the gross receipts tax for the shopping center get paid
from 19 -- 1986 until the time of the fire?
A. [FATHI YUSUF] It's being paid by the -- by the partnership.
* * * *
Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . . And who -- and who -- after you opened up in '86, who
took -- physically took care of the taxes? Who wrote the check, et cetera?
A. Write the check, sometime | write it. Sometime Wally write it.
Q. Wrote the check?
A. Yeah. (Exhibit 3)

14. Fathi Yusuf contradicted his own testimony. In an earlier deposition in 2014, Yusuf testified
that the Partnership was not supposed to be paying the United Shopping Center's GRTs
until 1994.

[Attorney Holt] Are there some other conditions to this partnership agreement?
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A. [FATHI YUSUF] No. The condition is, | have the final word. It's | am obligated
to consult with him, if | see it's important for me to consult. | was suppose to be,
after 1993, | was supposed to have an office within the supermarket free of
charge. | was -- he was supposed to, the Plaza Extra was supposed to pay all
the gross receipt from January 1st, 1994 up to present, and it was covering in the
building, the entire building of United Shopping Plaza. (Exhibit 4)

15.1tis also undisputed that Wally Hamed did not write Partnership checks for the 1986 to 1992
United Shopping gross receipt taxes because he testified in his deposition that he did not
have checking writing authority until 1994 on the Partnership’s Plaza Extra accounts.

Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . . And so before Mr. Yusuf left, did you have anything to do
with the writing of any checks for the gross receipts, either for the grocery store
operations, or any other gross receipts taxes?
A. [WALLY HAMED] Like I told you, I had nothing to with the shopping center
whatsoever. And as far as me signing checks, we opened Plaza Extra East in
1986. | didn't have any signing check -- | mean, | had no authority to sign checks.
Fathi was the only one who signed the checks —
* * * *
A. -- for the Plaza Extra East.
Q. [Ms. Perrell] When was it you were given authority to sign checks?
A. [WALLY HAMED] Sometime probably 3-4 years after that.
Q..... So would that be early '90s?
A. I'm not sure. | think probably after we moved to
St. Thomas, or right after we moved to St. Thomas.
Q..... Because at that point, Mr. Yusuf would be gone and somebody would
need to do it on behalf of the East store?
A. | believe around that time, yes.
Q..... So that makes sense. . ..
Q. (Mr. Hartmann) And just for the record, what was the date of that?
A. The date of?
Q. When you opened St. Thomas.
A. St. Thomas, | believe it's in '94. (Exhibit 3)

1993-2001 Payment of United Shopping Center’'s GRTs

16.From 1993 through August 2001, the United Corporation Shopping Center paid its own
gross receipt taxes on the proceeds of its rents out of its tenant bank account. (Exhibit 5,

pp. YUSF237705, YUSUF237727-YUSF237787)
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17.Fathi Yusuf left the St. Croix store at the end of 1992 to work in the newly opened Plaza
Extra store in St. Thomas. Mr. Yusuf testified that between 1993 and 2001, he assumed
that the Partnership continued to pay the United Shopping Center’s gross receipt taxes.

Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . . And -- and during that time [1986-1992], you had to --
even back in those days, you had to fill out a sheet, right, for the gross receipts
tax every month?

A. [FATHI YUSUF] Yes.

Q. Yeah. And was -- did one of you, in particular, do it, or did whoever do it?

A. No, the man who collecting the rent. | don't collect rent. | used to have a

manager.
* * * *

Q..... So you had a manager who filled out the tax forms --

A. Yeah.

Q. -- and then paid them?

A. Yes.

* * * *

A. He asked for a check and check would be written and give to him.

* * *
Q..... And -- and did it stay that way from --from the time you opened until you
left for St. Thomas in '927?
A. Yes.

* * * *

[Mr. Hartmann] So -- so when you moved to St. Thomas at the end of '92, did the
taxes continue to get paid the same way? In other words, did your manager --
A. [FATHI YUSUF] | would assume so.

Q..... But you don't know?

A. I don't know. (Exhibit 3)

18.By way of example, Mr. Yusuf testified that the United Shopping Center paid its own gross
receipt tax for the month of July 1999 out of its tenant bank account. He noted that his son
Mike Yusuf and the Shopping Center’s property manager signed the check for the GRT
payment.

[Mr. Hartmann] . . . .I'm showing the witness Exhibit F, which has been marked
as Exhibit 3 for the purposes of this deposition, which previously the witness
identified as his claim.

* * * *

Q. (Mr. Hartmann) And what I'm referring to is marked with a Bates Stamp
Number Exhibit FY 015001.

* * * *

Q. (Mr. Hartmann) What I'm showing you is a check written on United Corporation
Tenants Account.
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A. [FATHI YUSUF] Um-hum, yes.
Q. The tenants' account, not -- not on the partnership account.
A. Yeah.
Q. And -- and it's Check Number . . .1674, dated 8-27-99. And itself written to the
Government of the Virgin Islands for gross receipts taxes for July. In the notation,
it says July of '99. And it's accompanied by a -- by a form that was submitted with
It * * * *
Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . . And could you tell me whose signature appears on that
check?
A. | believe this is my son, Mike.
* * * *
A. Maher Yusuf.
Q. And -- and do you recognize the signature — the presented name and the
signature on the form below it?
* * * *
Q. I think it says Thomas.
A. I don't know who's that.
Q. Thomas Luff.
A. I don't know. | don't know. I tell you, I'm in St. Thomas.
* * * *
A. That must be the manager of the shopping center.
Q. So this is a check from 1999 paying the gross receipts tax.
A. Um-hum.
Q. Written on the tenants' account, and it's signed by your son, Mike?
A. Right. (Exhibit 3)

2002-2012 Payment of United Shopping Center's GRTs

19.From about 2002 through 2012, sometimes the United Corporation paid its own gross
receipt taxes on the rent proceeds from the United Shopping Center and sometimes the
Partnership paid the United Shopping Center’s gross receipts.

[Mr. Hartmann]. . . .When | say you didn't know anything at all before 2012, you
knew some stuff?

A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] | did.

Q. And, for instance, on this, you knew that some of the times, the partnership
paid its own -- paid the tenants' account and sometimes the tenant paid the
tenants' --

A. Yes.

Q. -- gross receipts taxes?

A. Yes. (Exhibit 3)

20.John Gaffney testified under oath in his deposition on January 21, 2020, that prior to his

arrival in 2012, the predecessor controller, Margie Soeffing, tried to account for the taxes
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as a “due to/from item,” but sometimes was pressured to expensing it. This meant that
sometimes the United Shopping Center GRTs' payment was characterized on the
Partnership’s accounting as an item to be resolved at some point in the future as to which
entity (Partnership or Shopping Center) should ultimately be responsible for paying it. Other
times, the GRT payment for the United Shopping Center came out of the Partnership’s bank
account and the Partnership books reflected that the Partnership paid it straight out, in other
words, it was a Partnership expense.

A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Well, he [Fathi Yusuf] just told me that his agreement had
always been that the gross receipts taxes for the shopping center were to be paid
by Plaza. The -- the -- | will say that | had conversations with the former controller,
Margie Soeffing, about that too, and she was under the -- she was under the
same guideline.

* * * *
Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . .So going back to my GAAP question again, you said that
-- you said that you had no personal knowledge and that no documents in there,
but that you could make some sort of statement about consistency. What
statement could you make about consistency?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Well, there was an effort to basically treat the payments
that were being made on behalf of the shopping center gross receipts taxes as a
due to/from item.

Q..... So if | understand what you're saying is they weren't trying to pay the
tenant gross receipts taxes out of the partnership, or they were?
A. | -- | believe, and I'm going to just say | believe because | believe that Margie

was trying to account for it as a due to/from item. And what was happening is
occasionally it would come up and she would be pressured into expensing it.
(Exhibit 3)

21. Gaffney further testified in his January 21, 2020 deposition that the prior controller, Margie
Soeffing, flip-flopped back and forth between sometimes classifying the Partnership’s
payment of the Yusuf family owned United Shopping Center's gross receipt taxes as a
“due/to from item” meaning the responsible party for paying the GRTs would be determined

at a later date and sometimes Ms. Soeffing just wrote the payment off—and the Partnership

paid the United Shopping Center's GRTs—because Fathi Yusuf pressured her to do so.
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Q. [Mr. Hartmann] And, for instance, on this, you knew that some of the times,
the partnership paid its own -- paid the tenants' account and sometimes the
tenant paid the tenants' --
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Yes.
Q. -- gross receipts taxes?
A. Yes.
* * * *
Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . .And what I'm asking is, and the only reason that came up,
the only reason you were placed in that position is Mr. Hamed -- Mr. Yusuf told
you that there was some old oral agreement that would have the partnership pay
the tenant account's gross receipts tax; is that correct?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] That, plus the fact | did see some evidence of the same
issue existing before 2000 -- | started the, you know, doing the conversion in
January of 2013.
* * * *
Q. [Ms. Perrell] You said you saw some evidence. And that evidence was you
had had some conversations with a lady that was the accountant. What was her
name?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Margie Soeffing.
* * * *
Q. (Ms. Perrell) You -- you spoke with her directly, right?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] I've spoke with her directly, yes.
Q. And as a result of that conversation, did you have an understanding how the
tenant -- how the shopping center gross receipts were to be paid, at least what
was --
A. Well, Margie -- Margie flip-flopped back and forth, and she admitted to it, to
me that she did. And she did tell me that, you know, sometimes under pressure
from Mr. Yusuf, she would start feeling like she needed to write it off, and then
sometimes under, | don't know whether she was getting pressure from anybody
else, | can't say specifically, but she would -- she did have a tendency to also try
and treat it as a due to/from item, too.
Q. All right. So that you understood that there were folks that were treating it both
ways?
A. Yeah. (Exhibit 3)

2013-2015 Payment of United Shopping Center's GRTs

22.0n January 21, 2020, John Gaffney testified that Judge Ross told him to go ahead and pay
the gross receipt taxes for the Yusuf family owned United Shopping Center with Partnership
funds and the dispute could be settled later. Gaffney posted a journal entry and expensed
the gross receipts for 2013-2015 in 2015.
Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .So as we sit here today, has the partnership paid for the

United Shopping Center's gross receipt taxes from January of '13 forward until
the split?
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A. [JOHN GAFFNEY]. . . .And — and ultimately what happened was in a meeting
with Judge Ross, Mr. Yusuf and I, we spent quite a bit of time on this, and the
point was argued about who was supposed to be incurring the cost of the
shopping center. Judge Ross finally said, Okay. For our purposes right now, go
ahead, and let's, you know, let's go ahead. | proposed a journal entry. | proposed
a journal entry so that we could get these off the books. And then the point about
the $44,000 in the gross receipts taxes could be argued later. But ultimately what
happened was, once | posted that journal entry, | expensed $44,000 to taxes,
gross receipts, and | did that in 2015. (Exhibit 3)

23.Gaffney explained in his January 21, 2020, deposition that by placing the payment of the
Yusuf family-owned United Shopping Center GRTs in a due to/from account on the
Partnership’s accounting, the amount was accumulating to be resolved at a future point. In
other words, the entity that was supposed to have paid the taxes would be determined later.

[Mr. Hartmann]. . . .You weren't there before 2012, were you?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Arrived in October of 2012.
Q..... So you don't really have any idea what was done before then, do you?
A. | have some idea, because what happened was, when | arrived, they were
about eight months or -- eight to ten months behind on their accounting. And so
what happened was, | had discussions with Margie Soeffing, and we agreed, we
-- we came to an agreement on how it would be brought current and so forth.

* * * *
Q. [Mr. Hartmann] And, for instance, on this, you knew that some of the times,
the partnership paid its own -- paid the tenants' account and sometimes the
tenant paid the tenants' --
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Yes.
Q. -- gross receipts taxes?
A. Yes.

* * * *
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY]. . . .See, who -- who paid it and what account it came out
of is irrelevant. It is the debit side that is --has the most relevance to me, because
if the debit side is going to a due to/from account, it's entirely different than if the
debt's going to an expense account called taxes, gross receipts. If it's going to a
due to/from account, it's accumulating to be resolved at some future point.
(Exhibit 3)

GAAP Accounting Principles Govern Accounting for Businesses

24.Mr. Gaffney testified that GAAP stands for generally accepted accounting principles and it
covers the entire subject of accounting for businesses.

[Mr. Hartmann]. . . .just tell me very briefly, what is GAAP?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Generally accepted accounting principles.
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Q..... And what is -- what is it used for?
A. Well, it covers basically the entire subject of accounting for businesses. . .
(Exhibit 3)

According to John Gaffney, Conformance with GAAP Requires Documentation or
Consistency in Treatment of Over Time

25. According to John Gaffney, an appropriate GAAP accounting entry has documents backing
up the accounting entry. For example, the repair of a refrigerator would include obtaining
and retaining an invoice of the work from the repair person. That receipt could then be
showed to the IRS, if necessary, to prove the expense was work related.

[Mr. Hartmann]. . . .just tell me very briefly, what is GAAP?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Generally accepted accounting principles.
Q..... And what is -- what is it used for?
A. Well, it covers basically the entire subject of accounting for businesses. . .

* * * *
Q. [Mr. Hartmann] If | was going to charge repairs to a refrigerator, | would get an
invoice from the person who repaired it, that would go into my books. And later
on, when the IRS or someone else came knocking, | would go back and show
them that document to show why it was in there; is that correct?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Correct, yes. (Exhibit 3)

26.Mr. Gaffney testified that an accounting entry without documentation could survive a GAAP
audit if consistency in handling the item is established over the course of years or months.

Q. [Ms. Perrell]. . . .And what was your understanding as to why the gross receipts
for the shopping center, which was not part of the partnership, would be paid by
the partnership?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Just discussions with Mr. Yusuf over the agreement, the
purported agreement that the shopping center gross receipts taxes are to be paid
by the -- by Plaza Extra.

* * * *
Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . .And is there any such document with regard to this
agreement? That's all I'm asking.
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] No.

* * * *
Q. [Mr. Hartmann]. . . .And -- and would this -- would this --would the
documentation that you have with regard to this, survive an audit under GAAP?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Yes, it could survive an audit under GAAP, based upon
consistency, because sometimes agreements are made. They're not necessarily
always in writing. And then what happens is if something has been handled a
certain way for so many years and --

* * * *
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A. -- so many months, it could -- it could be actually easily accepted. (Exhibit 3)

27.1t is undisputed that no writing exists documenting the purported agreement between Fathi

Yusuf and Mohammad Hamed that the Partnership would pay the United Shopping Center’s

GRTs.

[Mr. Hartmann]. . . .just tell me very briefly, what is GAAP?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Generally accepted accounting principles.
Q..... And what is -- what is it used for?
A. Well, it covers basically the entire subject of accounting for businesses. . .

* * * *
Q. [Mr. Hartmann] If | was going to charge repairs to a refrigerator, | would get an
invoice from the person who repaired it, that would go into my books. And later
on, when the IRS or someone else came knocking, | would go back and show
them that document to show why it was in there; is
that correct?
A. [JOHN GAFFNEY] Correct, yes.
Q..... And is there any such document with regard to this agreement? That's all
I'm asking.
A. No. (Exhibit 3)

28. 1t is undisputed that the payment of the gross receipt taxes was not handled consistently on

the Partnership’s books:

1986-1992 — Mr. Yusuf alleged in his deposition testimony in 2020 that the Partnership
paid the GRTs for the United Shopping Center. (Hamed SOF | 13)

1986-1993 — In contrary deposition testimony in 2014, Mr. Yusuf stated “[tlhe Plaza
Extra was supposed to pay all the gross receipt from January 1st, 1994 up to present,
and it was covering in the building, the entire building of United Shopping Plaza.”
(Hamed SOF | 14)

1993 to 2001 — the United Shopping Center paid its own GRTs from its tenant bank
account. (Hamed SOF { 16)

2002-2012 — Mr. Gaffney testified that the prior controller, Margie Soeffing, flip flopped
back and forth between sometimes classifying the Partnership’s payment of the Yusuf
family owned United Shopping Center’s gross receipt taxes as a “due/to from item,” to
determine which entity owed the GRTs at a later date and sometimes Ms. Soeffing just
wrote the payment off (meaning the Partnership paid it), because Fathi Yusuf pressured
her to do so. (Hamed SOF { 21)

2013-2015 — Mr. Gaffney testified that Judge Ross told him to go ahead and pay the
gross receipt taxes for the Yusuf family owned United Shopping Center with Partnership
funds and the dispute could be settled later. Mr. Gaffney posted the taxes as a “due/to
from item” on the Partnership’s books, signifying that determining which entity bore
responsibility for the GRTs would be determined at a later date. (Hamed SOF {{ 22-23)
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29. On March 3, 2016, the US District Court of the Virgin Islands, Division of St. Croix, ended
the United Corporation’s probation in United States of America v. United Corporation, et.
al., 1:05-cr-00015. (Exhibit 6) United Corporation was indicted on, among other things,
money laundering, tax evasion and filing false corporate income tax returns. (Exhibit 7)

30.0n May 15, 2018, Yusuf and United claimed in their response to interrogatory number 16
that the Partnership agreement between Hamed and Yusuf dictated that the profits would
be divided 50-50 after the deduction of expenses. Yusuf stated that he made the decisions
for the Partnership as to when the rent and other expenses would be reconciled and paid
to United. Finally, Yusuf and United said that the filing of the lawsuit between the two
partners was of no consequence on their agreement because the filing of Hamed’s lawsuit
“did not enable him to continue receiving the benefits of the partnership.” Fathi Yusuf and
the United Corporation Responses to Hamed's Fourth Interrogatories per the Claim
Discovery Plan of 1/29/2018 Nos. 16-28 of 50 in Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370 (May 15,
2018).

Interrogatory 16 of 50 relates to . . . H-150 (old Claim No. 3002a) . . . "United
Shopping Center's gross receipts taxes," . . ..

State with specificity why, assuming that Yusuf is correct that Hamed had agreed
that the Partnership would pay the separate (non-partnership-related) United
Corporation costs for such things as GRT taxes, franchise taxes and fees,
property insurance, etc., -- what facts, conversations, writings, communications
or other information or documents leads Yusuf to believe and assert that he
continued to have Hamed's consent as to such payments after September 17,
2012, despite a lawsuit filed by Hamed seeking to stop Yusuf's involvement in
the Partnership, with a claim of outright theft by Hamed, as well as Yusuf's denial
of the existence of a partnership, attempted removal of the Hameds from the
stores by Yusuf and letters from Hamed and his counsel stating that various of
the unilateral uses of funds, payments and actions were henceforth denied and
actionable? (Bold emphasis added).

Response:

* * * *

Further responding, Yusuf submits that in his earlier declaration he explained that
“[u]lnder the business agreement between Hamed and me that | now describe as
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a partnership, profits would be divided 50-50 after deduction for rent owed to
United, among other expenses" and that "[ulnder our agreement, | was the
person responsible for making all decisions regarding when the reconciliation
would take place"” and that Yusuf had the discretion to determine when the
reconciliation would take place. See August 12, 2014 Yusuf Declaration, p. 2.
There is no reason for Yusuf to believe that this discretion, consistent with the
manner in which the partnership operated from its inception, would not continue
in the same manner until its dissolution. This belief and understanding has been
further confirmed with Yusuf's designation as the Liquidating Partner under the
Final Wind Up Plan of the Plaza Extra Partnership adopted by the Court by Order
dated January 7, 2015. Finally, the filing of Hamed's lawsuit on September 17,
2012 did not enable him to continue receiving the benefits of the partnership
without the burdens he agreed to from the outset. (HAMD660351-HAMD660375)
(Exhibit 8)

31.0n May 15, 2018, Fathi Yusuf and the United Corporation denied in their response to

request to admit no. 7 that when Hamed sued Yusuf in 2012, any prior or then existing
voluntary consent allowing Yusuf to unilaterally act for the Partnership or for the benefit of
United Corporation using Partnership funds ended. Fathi Yusuf and the United Corporation
Response to Hamed's Third Request to Admit Pursuant to the Claims Discovery Plan of
1/29/2018, Nos. 7-29 of 50 in Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370 (May 15, 2018).

Request to Admit 7 of 50

Admit or Deny that when Hamed sued Yusuf, on or about September 17, 2012,

“to establish Hamed's rights under his partnership” and “enjoining the defendants

from interfering with Hamed's partnership rights, including enjoining Yusuf from

interfering with the operations of the three Plaza Extra supermarkets” that any

prior or then existing voluntary consent by Hamed -- for Fathi Yusuf to unilaterally

act for the Partnership or for the benefit of United Corporation using Partnership

funds -- ended.

Response:
Denied (Exhibit 9)

32.0n May 15, 2018, Yusuf and the United Corporation in their response to request to admit
no. 10, admitted that there was no written agreement after September 17, 2012 that the
Partnership would continue to pay United’s gross receipt taxes. Fathi Yusuf and United

Corporation Response to Hamed's Third Request to Admit Pursuant to the Claims
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Discovery Plan of 1/29/2018, Nos. 7-29 of 50 in Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370 (May 15,
2018).

Request to Admit 10 of 50:

Request to admit number 10 of 50 as described in Hamed’'s November 16, 2017
Motion for a Hearing Before Special Master relates to . . .Claim H-150 (old Claim
No. 3002a) “United Shopping Center’s gross receipt taxes. . . .

With regard to Yusuf Claim Y-5 and Hamed Claims H-150, . . . Admit or Deny that
there was no written agreement effective after September 17, 2012, between
Hamed and Yusuf (i.e. after the date that Hamed sued Yusuf in 2012 for breach
of the Partnership) that the Partnership would continue to pay United's separate
gross receipt taxes, franchise taxes, annual franchise fees and property
insurance.

Response:
Admitted. (Exhibit 9)

33.0n May 29, 2018, Hamed requested the Court’s guidance regarding United’s claim of
“special” treatment, Hamed Motion for Court Assistance and Directions re Special Master
Ross's May 21st Order, Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370 (May 29, 2018):

The thrust of this inquiry arises from the fact that each time Yusuf or United is
found to have taken Partnership funds for their own uses, they argue that there
was a "special arrangement” or an unwritten provision of the "Partnership
Agreement” that allows this inequality. (Exhibit 10, p. HAMD661330)

Hamed argued in his motion that 26 V.I.C. § 44 requires that the partnership agreement dictates
the terms of the partnership. When there is no written partnership agreement, 26 V.I.C. § 44
controls.

But, absent a written agreement, what are the "terms" of the partnership? Missing
or unclear terms are supplied by the Act. See 26 V.I.C. § 44 (Effect of partnership
agreement; nonwaivable provisions.)

(a) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (b) of this section, relations
among the partners and between the partners and the partnership are
governed by the partnership agreement. To the extent the partnership
agreement does not otherwise provide, this chapter governs
relations among the partners and between the partners and the
partnership. (Emphasis added)(footnote omitted).
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See, e.g., Bunnell v. Lewis, No. 05-92-02558-CV, 1993 WL 290781, at *5 (Tex.
App. July 27, 1993), writ denied (Mar. 9, 1994) ("A partnership is an association
of two or more persons to carry on a business for profit as co-owners. . . . In the
absence of agreement on other terms, the Texas Uniform Partnership Act
supplies the missing terms. See Park Cities Corp. v. Byrd, 534 S.W.2d 668, 672
(Tex. 1976).")

Fortunately, once a partnership is determined to exist, one partner cannot make
up, "explain” or dictate the rights, relative authority and power of the partners --
as these are set by statute in the Virgin Islands:

26 V.1.C. § 71 Partner's rights and duties

* k% %

() Each partner has equal rights in the management and conduct of the
partnership business. (Exhibit 10, p. HAMD661332)

34.In a June 26, 2018 Order, Judge Brady noted that thus far in the case, “no findings have
been made detailing with specificity the duties, responsibilities, benefits and obligations of
each partner, including whether any benefits are due United and its shareholders during the
period relevant to the issues and claims being addressed by the Master.” (Exhibit 11, p.
HAMDG661980) To determine whether any benefits are due United and its shareholders,
Judge Brady ordered that the following factors be considered: 1) the partners’ agreements,
2) history and 3) course of dealing.
ORDERED that the Master is directed to proceed to conduct such evidentiary
proceedings as are deemed appropriate to make factual findings necessary to
permit full consideration of the claims of the partners, including the determination
of the duties, responsibilities, benefits and obligations of each partner, including
whether any benefits are due United and its shareholders, in light of the partners'
agreements, history and course of dealing; and to report and make
recommendations regarding the claims and the distribution of partnership assets
in light of such findings. . . (Exhibit 11, p. HAMD661981)
35.The Partnership paid $70,938.04 in gross receipt taxes for the Yusuf family-owned United
Shopping Center from 2012-April 2015. (Exhibit 13)

With these Undisputed Facts in mind, it is now appropriate to review the applicable law.
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IV.  Argument: Applicable Law and Application of that Law to the Facts

A. Unsupported allegation of an “agreement”

Fathi Yusuf has not presented actual evidence, amounting to more than a scintilla, in
support of his contention that there was an agreement between himself and Mr. Mohammad
Hamed to have the Partnership pay the Yusuf family owned United Shopping Center’s gross
receipt taxes.

In Anderson v. American Federation of Teachers, 67 V.I. 777, 789, 2017 V.I. Supreme
LEXIS 48, at *16, 2017 WL 3332271 (V.l Mar 14, 2017), the Virgin Islands Supreme Court
stated that when the burden shifts to the non-moving party to present contrary evidence, the
non-moving party may “[n]ot rest on its allegations alone, but must present actual evidence,
amounting to more than a scintilla,” in support of its position. Perez, 59 V.I. at 527-28 (citation
omitted).” Accord, McCullough v. Mahally, 3:17-cv-1780, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8744, at *9,
2020 WL 279365 (M.D. Pa. Jan 17, 2020)(“[t]he party adverse to summary judgment must raise
"more than a mere scintilla of evidence in its favor" and cannot survive Rule 56 scrutiny by
relying on unsupported assertions, conclusory allegations, or mere suspicions”); Woodward v.
Norfolk S. Corp., 2012-UP-638, 2012 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 798, at *3-4 (S. C. App. Dec 5,
2012)([a]s to yard vegetation damages, Woodward proffered as evidence her own speculative
assertion that chlorine gas came in the direction of her property, located approximately 3.75
miles away from the site of derailment. See Strickland v. Madden, 323 S.C. 63, 68, 448 S.E.2d
581, 584 (Ct. App. 1994)("[A]n adverse party may not rely on the mere allegations in his
pleadings to withstand a summary judgment motion, but must set forth specific facts showing
there is a genuine issue for trial.")); and Butters v. Valdez, 149 Idaho 764, 770, 241 P.3d 7, 13,

2010 Ida. App. LEXIS 81, at *16-17 (Ida. App. Sept. 30, 2010)(“[a] mere scintilla of evidence or
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only slight doubt as to the facts is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact for the
purposes of summary judgment. (citation omitted)).

It is undisputed that no one, other than Fathi Yusuf, had personal knowledge of the
purported agreement between Fathi Yusuf and Mohammad Hamed for the Partnership to pay
the Yusuf family owned United Shopping Center’s gross receipt taxes:

e Waleed Hamed had no knowledge of this purported agreement. He testified in his

deposition that his father did not tell him of such an agreement. (Hamed SOF | 4)

e Mike Yusuf, Fathi Yusuf's oldest son and current President of the United Corporation,
as well as an employee of Plaza Extra East store from 1991-2000, did not have
knowledge of the purported agreement. (Hamed SOF { 5)

e Mafi Hamed, who worked in the Plaza Extra East store, did not know of the alleged
agreement. Further, Mafi Hamed testified that his father would have told him had
such an agreement existed because his father discussed everything owed with him
and his brothers. (Hamed SOF { 6)

It is undisputed that Mohmmad Hamed did not agree to have the Partnership pay the
gross receipt taxes of the United Shopping Center, according to Fathi Yusuf. Yusuf testified in
his 2020 deposition that Mr. Mohammad Hamed never specifically agreed to have the
Partnership pay the gross receipt taxes for the Yusuf family owned United Shopping Center,
rather “[w]hat he [Mr. Hamed] said, he never say nothing. Whatever | say goes. And he [Mr.
Hamed] accepted it.” (Hamed SOF { 3) In an earlier 2014 deposition, Yusuf testified:

Q. [Mr. Hartmann. . . .So the gross receipts tax would be paid not only for the

grocery store, but also for Yusufs' United?

A. [FATHI YUSUF] Um-hum.

Q. And you said that you told him that?

A. Yeah.

Q. And he never said anything?

A. He never said. And then | explain to him. .” (Hamed SOF { 10)

No writings or other tangible evidence were produced by either Fathi Yusuf or the United
Corporation that substantiated this alleged agreement. (Hamed SOF { 2) John Gaffney, the

controller for the Partnership and the United Corporation also testified that he had no

documentation demonstrating this alleged agreement. (Hamed SOF { 27)
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It is undisputed that Fathi Yusuf's “rationales” for why the Partnership would agree to
pay the GRTs of the Yusuf family-owned United Shopping Center are also unsubstantiated.
Fathi Yusuf alleged that one of the reasons the Partnership agreed to pay the gross receipt
taxes of the United Shopping Center was

[tlhe agreement between me and Mr. Mohammad Hamed, is the rent, it was very,

very low, $3 a square foot. . . .I [Fathi Yusuf] am giving you this $3 a square foot,

but I'm not paying no insurance, I'm not paying no gross receipt. The store have

to take care of it.” (Hamed SOF { 7)

However, Judge Brady found as a matter of fact that the rent was actually $5.55 per square
foot:

Yusuf specifically addresses how rent is calculated ($5.55 per square foot),

stating that the past due rent is "the same as the old one," referring to the 1986 -

1994 rental amounts. . . .Yusuf presents more than sufficient evidence that the

Partnership's arrangement with United from 1986 to 1994 was identical, in terms

of past due rent, as the arrangement between 1994 through 2004. (Hamed SOF

18)

For the time period of this claim, 2012-March 8, 2015, Judge Brady stated the rental amount
was $10.12 per square foot.

The proof before the Court is clear as to United's claim that rent is due for Bay

No. 1 at the rate of $58,791.38 per month from January 1, 2012 to September

30, 2013. . .[T]he Liquidating Partner, under the supervision of the Master, is

authorized and directed to pay. . . additional rents that have come due from

October 1, 2013 at the rate of $58,791.38 per month, until the date that Yusuf

assumed full possession and control of Plaza Extra - East. (Hamed SOF | 9)

Thus, from 1986-1994, the Plaza Extra East grocery store paid $5.55 per square foot, not the
$3 per square foot Yusuf testified to under oath and from 2012-March 8, 2015, the Plaza Extra
East grocery store paid $10.12 per square foot, the time period of this claim. That is the law of
the case. Therefore, the first rationale is false: “the rent, it was very, very low, $3 a square foot.

The second rationale Fathi Yusuf offered also is unsubstantiated. Yusuf stated that in

exchange for the Partnership paying the gross receipt taxes of the United Shopping Center,
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the Partnership would be allowed to take the full depreciation of the United Shopping Center

on the Partnership’s taxes. (Hamed SOF { 110-11) No documents or other evidence

substantiating this depreciation were produced by Fathi Yusuf or the United Corporation for the

timeframe of this claim, 2012 to March 8, 2015. (Hamed SOF | 12)

Finally, it is undisputed that there was no consistency in the manner of which entity paid

the GRTSs for the United Shopping Center, undercutting the existence of an agreement:

1986-1992: Fathi Yusuf testified that the Partnership paid for the Yusuf family owned
United Corporation Shopping Center’s gross receipt taxes. (Hamed SOF { 13) Wally
Hamed did not write Partnership checks for the United Shopping Center’s gross
receipt taxes during this time period because he did not have check writing authority
until 1994 on the Partnership’s Plaza Extra accounts. (Hamed SOF | 15)
1986-1993: In an earlier deposition in 2014, Fathi Yusuf testified that “[tjhe Plaza
Extra [Partnership] was supposed to pay all the gross receipt from January 1st, 1994
up to present, and it was covering in the building, the entire building of United
Shopping Plaza.” (Hamed SOF 114)

1993-August 2001: The United Corporation Shopping Center paid its own gross
receipt taxes from its tenant bank account. (Hamed SOF | 16, 18)

2002-2012: sometimes the United Corporation paid its own gross receipt taxes and
sometimes the Partnership paid the United Shopping Center's gross receipts.
(Hamed SOF 11 19-20) As Mr. Gaffney testified about this time period, the prior
controller, Margie Soeffing, flip-flopped back and forth between sometimes
classifying the Partnership’s payment of the Yusuf family owned United Shopping
Center’s gross receipt taxes as a “due/to from item” (meaning the entity responsible
for the payment hadn’t been determined) and sometimes Ms. Soeffing just wrote the
payment off (meaning the Partnership paid it), because Fathi Yusuf pressured her to
do so. (Hamed SOF 1 21)

2013-2015: John Gaffney testified that Judge Ross told him to go ahead and pay the
gross receipt taxes for the Yusuf family owned United Shopping Center with
Partnership funds and the dispute could be settled later. (Hamed SOF { 22)

Thus, Mr. Yusuf has failed to provide “more than a mere scintilla of evidence” in support

of establishing the alleged agreement between the Partners.

B. No Agreement to Have the Partnership Pay United’s Gross Receipt Taxes

1. No consideration was given for the oral agreement

In Castolenia v. Crafa, ST-13-CV-243, 2014 V.I. LEXIS 1, at *7, 2014 WL 239427 (Sup.

Ct. Jan. 15, 2014), the VI Superior Court articulated the standard for a valid contract:
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The creation of a valid contract requires “a bargain in which there is a
manifestation of mutual assent to the exchange and a consideration.”
Consideration requires a performance or a return promise that has been
pargained for. Where there is no mutual assent, or no meeting of the minds, there

is no contract.

In this instance, there is no consideration. For example, Mr. Yusuf alleged that United
gave the Plaza Extra grocery store a low rental rate of $3.00 per square foot and in exchange
for that rental rate the Partnership would pay the Yusuf-family owned United Shopping Center’s
gross receipt taxes and property insurance. (Hamed SOF { 2) It is the law of the case, however,
that the rental rate for the Plaza Extra grocery store from 1986-2004 was $5.55 per square
foot, not the “very, very low, $3 a square foot” that Mr. Yusuf testified to under oath in January
2020. (Hamed SOF 11 2, 8) Further, for the time period of this claim, H-150, Judge Brady found
in his April 27, 2015 Order that rent from 2012-March 8, 2015 was charged at a rate of $10.12
per square foot (Hamed SOF { 9)

Mr. Yusuf alleges that Mr. Hamed agreed to pay the United Shopping Center’'s gross
receipt taxes in exchange for allowing the Partnership to take the depreciation value of the
entire United Shopping Center on the Partnership’s tax return. (Hamed SOF {1 10-11) Yusuf,
however, has not provided any evidence that the Partnership did in fact get the depreciation
value on its taxes for the years 2012-2015, the time period of claim H-150. (Hamed SOF { 12)

2. No evidence of an agreement

It is undisputed that Mr. Mohmmad Hamed did not agree to have the Partnership pay
the gross receipt taxes of the United Shopping Center, according to Fathi Yusuf. Yusuf testified
in his deposition that Mr. Mohammad Hamed never specifically agreed to have the Partnership
pay the gross receipt taxes for the Yusuf family owned United Shopping Center, rather “[w]hat

he [Mr. Hamed] said, he never say nothing. Whatever | say goes. And he [Mr. Hamed] accepted

it.” (Hamed SOF { 3)
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It is undisputed that Wally Hamed, Mike Yusuf and Mafi Hamed, who all worked at the
Plaza Extra East store, did not know about the agreement. (Hamed SOF |1 4-6) Further, Mafi
Hamed testified that his father would have told him had such an agreement existed because
his father discussed everything owed with him and his brothers. (Hamed SOF { 6)

No documentary proof was offered to substantiate Yusuf's contention. No written
agreement memorializing the oral contract was produced by Fathi Yusuf or the United
Corporation.! (Hamed SOF 1 2) Further, Mr. Gaffney, the controller for the Partnership and
the United Corporation, stated in his 2020 deposition testimony that he did not have a written
agreement documenting the oral contract either. (Hamed SOF { 27)

Thus, no corroborating testimony or documentary evidence was offered by Yusuf
substantiating the alleged agreement between Yusuf and Hamed.

3. Partners did not behave as if there were an agreement

On June 26, 2018, Judge Brady issued an Order re Special Master, Hamed v Yusuf,
SX-12-CV-370. Judge Brady noted that, thus far in the case,

[n]o findings have been made detailing with specificity the duties, responsibilities,

benefits and obligations of each partner, including whether any benefits are due

United and its shareholders during the period relevant to the issues and claims

being addressed by the Master.” (Hamed SOF  34)

To determine whether any benefits are due United and its shareholders, Judge Brady ordered

that the following factors be considered: 1) the partners’ agreements, 2) history and 3) course

of dealing.

1 See Penn v. Mosley, 67 V.l. 879, 893, 2017 V.I. Supreme LEXIS 53, at *20-21 (V.I. Aug. 11,
2017) In particular, the Appellate Division noted that the magistrate's findings of fact
established that an oral contract between Penn and Mosley was formed prior to Mosley's
return to St. Thomas, thus establishing that the January 9, 2015 agreement was a written
memorial of the terms of the prior oral contract. The written agreement's terms provide
documentary evidence that corroborates Mosley's testimony.



Hamed Motion for Summary Judgment re Claim H-150
Recovery of Gross Receipt Taxes Paid by the Partnership - Page 28

ORDERED that the Master is directed to proceed to conduct such evidentiary
proceedings as are deemed appropriate to make factual findings necessary to
permit full consideration of the claims of the partners, including the determination

of the duties, responsibilities, benefits and obligations of each partner, including

whether any benefits are due United and its shareholders, in light of the partners'

agreements, history and course of dealing; and to report and make
recommendations regarding the claims and the distribution of partnership assets

in light of such findings. . . (Hamed SOF { 34)

Mr. Yusuf stated that the purported oral agreement between him and Mr. Mohammad
Hamed occurred prior to the formation of the Partnership in 1986. (Hamed SOF | 2) There is
no corroborating testimony or documentary evidence supporting Mr. Yusuf's allegation of an
oral agreement. (Hamed SOF { 2-6, 27)

The purported rationales that Mr. Yusuf offered for the agreement—*"the rent, it was very,
very low, $3 a square foot” and the Partnership could take the full depreciation of the United
Shopping Center on its taxes—were not supported by any evidence. The rent for the Plaza
Extra East store from 1986 to 1994 was $5.55 per square foot and the rent for the time period
of this claim, 2012 to March 8, 2015, was $10.12 per square foot. (Hamed SOF 19 8-9) Neither
Yusuf nor United provided any documentation showing that the Partnership took the full
depreciation of the United Shopping Center on its taxes for the time period covered by this
claim 2012-March 2015. (Hamed SOF { 12)

There is no evidence of a course of dealing or historical pattern to support Mr. Yusuf’s
contention either. For instance, Fathi Yusuf stated in his 2020 deposition that the Partnership
paid the GRTs for the United Shopping Center from 1986 to 1992. (Hamed SOF {{ 13, 28)
However, in a 2014 deposition, Yusuf testified “[tjhe Plaza Extra was supposed to pay all the
gross receipt from January 1st, 1994 up to present, and it was covering in the building, the
entire building of United Shopping Plaza,” meaning the Partnership would not have paid the

United Shopping Center's GRTs in 1986-1992. (Hamed SOF { 14) Fathi Yusuf provided

contrary evidence showing that the United Shopping Center did pay its own gross receipt taxes
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for 1993-August 2001 — Yusuf produced the gross receipt tax forms and cancelled checks.
(Hamed SOF 11 16, 28) For the time period of September 2001-2012, Mr. Gaffney testified
that sometimes the Partnership paid the United Shopping Center's GRTs and sometimes not.
(Hamed SOF 11 19-21) For 2012-2015, Mr. Gaffney said he accounted for the Shopping
Center's GRTs as a “due to/from” item on the Partnership accounting, meaning the party
responsible for the payments would be determined at a later date. (Hamed SOF |1 22-23) Thus
there were no course of dealings or historical patterns showing that the Partnership consistently
paid the GRTs for the United Shopping Center.

C. No Hearing is Necessary because all Relevant Parties have Testified

As is the case with Hamed’s argument as to the Tutu Half-Acre Parcel (H-142), the sole
actors here have testified at length under cross-examination in their January 2020 depositions.
This was after all discovery was complete and the parties were fully informed of all premises.

Therefore, Hamed incorporates that same argument here—there is no need for any
further hearing as all of the facts and documents will be before the Master, and there is no
dispute as to the known facts.
V. Conclusion

Again, this is an open-and-shut example of Yusuf simply taking funds. Fathi Yusuf has
not presented actual evidence, amounting to more than a scintilla, in support of his contention
that there was an agreement between himself and Mr. Mohammad Hamed. There was no
consideration for the purported agreement either—the rental rate for the Plaza Extra Shopping
Center was not the “very, very low, $3 a square foot” Mr. Yusuf testified to under oath and no
evidence was provided by the Defendants supporting the contention that the Partnership took
the full depreciation of the United Shopping Center on its taxes. Finally, there is no evidence

of consistent historical treatment or course of dealing as to which entity paid the United
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Shopping Center's GRTs. Sometimes the United Shopping Center paid its own GRTSs,
sometimes the Partnership paid them and sometimes the GRTs were booked as a “due/to item”
on the Partnership’s accounting, meaning the party responsible for the payment would be
determined at a later date.

No hearing is necessary, and, thus, judgment should enter with the return of $70,938

paid in GRTSs for the United Shopping Center to the Partnership.

Dated: April 9, 2020 C;“é'g\' Z z a"‘é |

Carl J. Hartmann lll, Esq.
Co-Counsel for Plaintiff

1545 18" Street NW

Suite 816

Washington, DC 20036

Email: carl@carlhartmann.com
Tele: (340) 719-8941

Joel H. Holt, Esq.
Counsel for Plaintiff

Law Offices of Joel H. Holt
2132 Company Street,
Christiansted, VI 00820
Email: holtvi@aol.com
Tele: (340) 773-8709

Fax: (340) 773-8670
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email, as agreed by the parties, on:

Hon. Edgar Ross (w/ 2 paper copies to his Clerk)

Special Master

edgarrossjudge@hotmail.com

Gregory H. Hodges
Charlotte Perrell

Law House, 10000 Frederiksberg Gade

P.O. Box 756
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Mark W. Eckard
Hamm, Eckard, LLP
5030 Anchor Way
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mark@markeckard.com

Jeffrey B. C. Moorhead
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1132 King Street, Suite 3
Christiansted, VI 00820
jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com

Coa il

CERTIFICATE OF WORD/PAGE COUNT

This document complies with the limitations set forth in Rule 6-1 (e). Counsel notes that

this excludes the cover page, caption, table of contents, table of authorities, appendices,

exhibits, certificates of service and “Statement of Undisputed Facts” per the revised

requirements. As the Rule, as amended, is unclear, if the Statement of Facts is counted in the

total, Hamed will remove it from the body and append it as a separate exhibit.
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IN THE TERRITORIAL COURT OF THE YIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JORN

' AHMAD YDHEILEH, ; }
: - Plaint.iff, 3 oo
| ve. . —’%”_—No 156/1997
- Il oayzemD corpoRATION and - 2 )
FATHT YUSUF, Individually, ‘ ):'
Defenﬂnnts. _;

THE' ORAL- DEEOSITION OF FATHI IUS‘UF

was ‘taken on the 2nd day of February 2000 at the Ofﬁicea ©of

caribbean Scxibes, 2132 Cowpamy Bt., Ste. 3, christiansted,

‘81:*. ‘Crotx, U.E. Virg:m Yglands, between the hours of
to Notice and ‘Pedexal Rules

1:05 p n., and 4:057p.w. purauant

.of Civil Procedure.

*
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Group

- . ) Reported by:

Cheryl). L. Haase
Regietemd pProfessional Reporter
caribbean Soribes, JInc.
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2132 Coupany gtyeet, Suite 3
Christiansted, S8t. Croix U.8.V.IL.
(340) ,773-8161

Cchexyl L. Haase
(340) 773-8161
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’ x586- I -own United Shopping Plaza. I'm a monber of
United Corporation, who owns United Shopping Plaza.
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During construction -- I'um.going to go a
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMAD HAMED, by his authorized )
agent WALEED HAMED, )
) CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370
Plaintiff, )
) ACTION FOR DAMAGES,
\2 ) INJUNCTIVE AND
) DECLARATORY RELIEF
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, )
) .
Defendants. ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
)

DEFENDANT UNITED CORPORATION’S ANSWERS TO
PLAINTIFF’S FIRST SET OF INTERROGATORIES

o pere ] ~ 13 1 :!.

ALL) n a da ' o4 N O 0 £ 3 haoraos e -
\J w, Jdl - v U "Ly + v y - ~ - - - v -

“Defendant”), by and through undersigned counsel, The DeWood Law Firm, by Nizar A
DeWood, Esq., and respectfully answers as follows to the Plaintiff’s First Set of Interrggatories
to Defendant, United Corporation.

Subject to the objections set forth below, Defendant answers as fg oWs to the First Set of
Interrogatories filed by Plaintiff.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

These answers and objections are made<olely for the purpose of this action. Each
answer is subject to any and all objectigns as to competence, relevance, materiality, propriety,
and admissibility; and any and all &b jeg:tions and grounds that would require the exclusion of any
statement contained in apyresponse, if such request were asked of, or any statement contained
therein were made by, a witness present and testifying in court, all of which objections and
grounds agpe’hereby reserved and may be interposed at the time of trial.

The following answers are based upon information presently available to Defendant and,

CXCCP ."'D ’ dU 'l ', ' l' d O i D!-! "i'&l" aCC

Group

EXHIBIT
HAMD590636 1
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Mohammad Hamed, by his authorized
Agent Waleed Hamed v. Fathi Yusuf and United Corporation

Defendant United Corporation’s Answers to Plaintiff’s First Set of Interrogatories
Page 9 of 20

5. Please list the dates of all subsequent transfers of stock or new issuance of stock of
United Corporation since the initial stock issuance, including

a) the names and address of new shareholders,

b) the amount of stock this shareholder then owned,

c) the person or entity that transferred the stock to the this shareholder

d) the consideration the shareholder paid for the stock

e) whether the transfer is listed on the stock ledger of United Corporation

Answer to Interrogatory No. 5:

. .
L/ idl VU v [ ]

%MMS—@S—M@FFO@G@W—GSM@W&!.

United Corporation as an S-Corp.:

Name Address Title** Percentage

Fathi Yusuf 4 C & D Sion Farm Secretary/Treasurer 36.0%
Christiansted, USVI

Fawzia Yusuf 92 La Grande Princess Vice President A 36.0%

Christiansted, USVI

Maher Yusuf 4 C & D Sion Farm President 7.0%
Christiansted, USVI

Najeh Yusuf St. Thomas, USVI 7.0%

Yusuf Yusuf 92 C&D La Grande Princess 7.0%
Christiansted, USVI

Zayed Yusuf USVI 7.0%

Zeyad Yusuf Texas 0.0%’

% All Board of Directors

4 All Shareholders

% On March 1, 2012, Zeyad Yusuftransferred 3 : of his shares to Fathi Yusuf and 3 % shares to Fawzia Yusuf.

HAMD590644
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Mohammad Hamed, bv his authorized

Agent Waleed Hamed v. Fathi Yusuf and United Corporation

Defendant United Corporation’s Answers to Plaintiff"s First Set of Interrogatories
Page 18 of 20

VERIFICATION
On this, the ﬂ day of September 2013, before me personally appeared Maher Yusuf,
acting in his capacity as President for United Corporation, and on behalf of United Corporation,
after being first duly sworn, states under cath that the foregoing Answers to Interrogatories,
directed to said Corporation are true and correct to the best of his knowledge and belief, and that
he executed same for an on behalf of United Corporation.
This, the ﬁfﬁ;of&ptember 2013.
UNITED CORPORATION

Maher Y'usuf, President

TERRITORY OF U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS
DISTRICT OF ST. CROIX

On this the ﬁ day of September 2013, before me personally appeared Maher Yusuf,

acting in his capacity as President of United Corporation and on behalt of United Corporation,

exccuted the foregoing Verification.

7%./
Thigthe /7 day of September 2013.

K. Glenda Cameron
Commission Number LNP O
Cr Expiration Date: May 26, 2017
A4y Cesumisgion expires:

18
HAMD590653 6
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Mohammad Hamed, by his authorized

Agent Waleed Hamed v. Fathi Yusuf and United Corporation

Defendant United Corporation’s Answers to Plaintifi”s First Set of Interrogatories
Page 19 of 20

Dated: September Lf_, 2013 Respectfully Submitted,

THE DEWOOD LAW]
¥ 4

2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 102
St. Croix, USVI1 00820

Tel: 340.773.3444

Fax: 888.398.8428

Email: dewood@gmail.com
Counsel for Defendant

Joseph A. DiRuzzo, 111, Esq.
Christopher David, Esq.

Fuerst Ittleman David & Joseé)h, PL
1001 Brickell Bay Drive, 32" Floor
Miami, FL 33131

Tel: 305.350.5690

Fax: 305.371.8989

Co-Counsel for Defendant

19
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United Corporation
United Shopping Plaza

P.O. Box 763, 4C & D Sion Farm, Christiansted, V| 00821 Phone (340) 778-8240, Fax (340) 778}1200

August 27, 2001

Fahti Yusuf
Plaza Extra, St. Thomas
Fax #775-5766

Subject: United Shopping Plaza Reports

Dear Mr. Yusuf,

Here is a brief summary of the encla

$215 055 before tax payments shown on ﬁrst sheet. “Umelated” items are /
family expenses.

# 2 & 3 are monthly worksheets of gent paid balanced my Databage
and accounts receivable sheets. Gross receipts and calculated, amount
billed vs. paid, sum of taxes paid shown, The shows the payment |
pattern. J

#4. A check register wj ery check shown and deposits by date. The
month’s income is calculated, plus the balance at the end of the
month.

5 The check amounts are distributed among expense categories and the
: tement—

#6. Lists the tenants, rents, areas and rent / sq. ft. plus calculated account
receivables to date. Vacancies and vacan¢y % are shown at the bottom.

EXHIBIT
2

10
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LEASE DATA

T # Business last name First Name Position workphone home Phona L Dt Term —-Explres status #
Bay 2 U-Rental & Saies Elcock & DeLaMotia  Claude £ Hide  Owiers: 77— .ae | 17Ol 211100 5 1/31/05 $
Bay 3 Ameyican Besper- LeonerR Robert Owner 778-8558  778-8558 2/1/89 10 183109 $ !
Bay 4 Vacant Vacant $ 1,130.00
Bay § plaza extra-Vacant v v Vacant Vacant $ 1,825.00
Bay 6 J&P Sales Pifilero Juan Owner 7788862 773-5348 8/1/01 5 7131106 $ 2,340.00
Bay 7 plaza exira-Vacant v v v v v V' Vacent Vacant $ 1,802.71
Bay 8 piaza exira-Vacant v v v v V' v Vacant Vacant $ 2,864.58
Bay 9 Naty's Cafeteria Ruiz Cesar Owner  778-7020  778-3568 1/5/00 5  10/1/03 Renewed $ 625.00
Bay 10 Kay's Travels Zenon Alidia Owner 7733238  773-7572 none 12/31/99 Expired-TAW $ 78250
Bay 11 Augutin Nolasco Perez Torres Augustin Owner none 1101 2 1/1/03 Inct on renewal $ 600.00
Bay 12 Vacant Vacant v v v v $ 1,150.00
Bay 13 Plaza Cafe Martin Horatio Owner  778-4447  778-6038 NO Lease $ 1,355.00
Bay 14 Vacant Vecant v v v V' $ 780.00
Bay 15 Vi Nals Nguyen Kent Owner  692-2597  STT775-8660 2/11/00 5 131038 $ 575.00
Bay 16 Bee's records Bramble Joseph Owner 7786148  778-5302 10/1/99 5  9/30/04 Renewal agmt $ 78123
Bay 17 Gill Electronics Git Michael Owner  778-5840  773-6945 4101 5  3/31/06 Expired-TOW $ 781.23
Bay 18 Eisa's Beauty Parior Eisa Rodriguez Owner 773-7212  778-8761 4101 L] 331106 $ 780.00
Bay 19 47Th St. Joweiers Perez Emitio Owner  778-7815  778-7758 Leeving 8/1/ V v v $ 78125
Bay 20 Peoples Laundry BaRantine Judith A, Owner 773-2303/77.713-1088/772- 11602 10  12/31/02 New Owner 1298 $ 2,650.00
Bay 21 Dimension Video Roper Eustace Owner none 7736140 4/1/01 5 3/31/06 $ 230.00
Bay 22 Vacant Vacant v v v v $ 90000
Bay 23 MU Island Mensware  idhelish Mahmud Owner 778-5736  773-5049 41101 53106 — $ 1,1685.00
Bay 24 UWuU Peters Amos _ Vice Pres - 773-6055— T78-2571/778-  8/30/89 10 5/31/09 Rentincr 6/30/01  $ 1,500.00
Bay 25 lsland Finance Jeland-finence “Norwest Fin. Corp  Owner 7788292 773-2214 9/30/04 10 8/31/04 Rent incr 101101  § 2,408.25
‘Béy 26 Sports Plus Alicea Luls Owner 778-8446  778-2281 5/1/01 3 5/31/04 $ 1,100.00
Bay 27 Boyd Cleaners Boyd Dolores Owner 778-1152 773-0664 7/11/99 10 7/31/09 Rent Incr 8/31/03 8 1,458.00
Bay 28 Boyd Cleaners same same same same  same same sar same
Bay 28 Sunsiroke- Clenance Rashidi Owner 773-8383 7711213 11198 5 1/31/04 Rent Incr 11101  § 729.00
Bay 30 King Cash Barry, Jr Asthur & Deshawn Owner 7199564  713-9856 2/1/98 5 173104 $ 900.00
Bay 36 Best Furniture Hussein Bakr & Akell Owner 7786440  773-4161 71189 3 6/30/02 Rent Incs pending § 7,000.00
Sulte 1 Vacamnt Vacant Vacant Vacant  Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacent Vacant $ 525.00
Suite 2 Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacanl  Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacant Vecant $ 900.00
Sulte 3 Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacent Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacant $ 450.00
Sufte 3a Mutual of Omaha Phitlip Solomon Owner 7789655  773-8771 41M 5 3131m6 $ 475.00
Sulte 4 Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacant $ 925.00
Sulte 5 Dr F. Alonso Alonso Dr. Francisca Dr 778-6185  773-9216 4101 5 33106 $ 1,250.00
Sulle 7 Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacant Vacant $ 5985.00
Sulte 8 LEI Technology Lindsey Ronald President 713-9336 2/1/00 5 131108 $ 725.00
Sulte 9 USW Regional Off. Joseph Frederick Director 778-5634  772-3184 8/1/01 3 1B104 $ 1,500.00
Sufte 11 Ranger Secusity Richards Dekroy Mgr 7199698  778-8277/7764 511799 3  4/3002 canextend at 3%AT $  700.00
Sufte 12 vacant v V' v v $ 675.00
Sulte 13 v v v V' $ 275.00
Sulte 14 USW 8528-Oct Jacikson Geny Pres. 778-5908  692-3875 10/1/99 5  9/30/04 $ 1,1985.00
store 30 $80,941.79
offics 12
Type # Business iast name First Name Position work phone home Phone LeaseDt. Trm  Expires status Rent
a5 No Leases

# 10 Kay Travels

# 13 Plaza Café
DB 2001.xis Leases

HAMDG664275

1,250
3,125
3,128
3,125
8,250

925
1,250

25.44

7.99
1020



Carl
Rectangle

Carl
Rectangle


Exhibit 3



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

WALEED HAMED, as the Executor of
the Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,
Plaintiff/Counterclaim Deft.,
vs. Case No. SX-2012-CVv-370
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED

CORPORATION,
Defendants/Counterclaimants,

DEPOSITIONS TAKEN:
JANUARY 21, 2020

VsS.

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,
Counterclaim Defendants.
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,
Plaintiff,

Consolidated with

VsS. Case No. SX-2014-Ccv-287

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,
Plaintiff,
Consolidated with
vs. Case No. SX-2014-Cv-278

FATHI YUSUF, Defendant.

FATHI YUSUF, Plaintiff,
Consolidated with
vs. Case No. ST-17-CV-384
MOHAMMAD A. HAMD TRUST, et al.,

Defendants.
KAC357 Inc., Plaintiff,

Consolidated with

VSs. Case No. ST-18-Cv-219

HAMED/YUSUF PARTNERSHIP,

EXHIBIT
3

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
UNITED CORPORATION, Defendant. )
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Defendant.

13


Carl
Rectangular Exhibit Stamp


THE VIDEOTAPED ORAL DEPOSITIONS OF FATHI YUSUF,
MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF, WALEED "WALLY" HAMED, NEJEH YUSUF,
MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED, AND JOHN GAFFNEY
was taken on the 21st day of January, 2020, at the Law
Offices of Joel H. Holt, 2132 Company Street, The Alcove
Room, Christiansted, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, between
the hours of 10:00 a.m. and 5:09 p.m., pursuant to Notice

and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

Reported by:

Susan C. Nissman RPR-RMR
Registered Merit Reporter
Caribbean Scribes, Inc.
2132 Company Street, Suite 3
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820
(340) 773-8161
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APPEARANCES
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For the Plaintiffs:

Law Offices of

Joel H. Holt

2132 Company Street, Suite 2
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: Joel H. Holt

and

Carl J. Hartmann, III

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L6
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: Carl J. Hartmann, IITI
Kim Japinga

For the Defendants:

Law Offices of

DNF

Law House

P.0O. Box 756

Charlotte Amalie, St. Thomas
U.S. Virgin Islands 00802

By: Charlotte Perrell

Also Present: Michael Gelardi, Videographer
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FATHI YUSUF -- DIRECT

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: PIcasSc Swear 1T the

witness.
FATHI YUSUF,
called as a witness, having been first duly orn,
testified on his oath as follows;
DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MS. PERRELL:
Q. All right. Good morning, Yusuf.
A. Good morning.
Q. So this particulay/deposition, this set of
depositions, is going tog/be relating to a number of claims
the parties have madg” as to gross receipts, okay? And the
payment of gross Afeceipts.
Do you recall that as a owner of United --
and I'm gging to say United operating as a Yusuf entity, as

oppos to United operating, or with the hat of the

tnership, okay?

D rav|
TE e URAY .

Q. So when T say United, I'm talking about United
that is your family's entity that owns real estate and the

shopping center and so forth.

A ol
Ex ) \JI\Q_Y-

Q. Okay. Have —-- has United made aim to recover

certain gross receip for monies received from

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- DIRECT

— K. Repeat the questiom, prease:

Q. Skay~ Has United made a claim in this lawsuit --

A. Yes.

Q. -— to recover gross receipts that has been paid by
the United on behalf of receipts from tenants that United
believes should have been paid by the partnership?

A. It should have. That's the agreement between me

and Mr. Mohammad Hamed, is the rent, it was very, very low,

$3 a square foot. FI—ertered—with o partrer—Jost—Simpry—for

£ = NN N rasi—lo 2 1 11
+ 19 TS T raw. TIC

che—purpes retpirg—him—Hels—my
have six children. He went 1 year or 18 months in schoo
I did not want any very much more, but I think about
than six. So we both, uneducated, let's put it is way,
and we have no trade whatsoever that we can Mse in

St. Croix, except I met Mohammad Hamed the '70s, sometime
in the '70s, and I was from the '60 #n the retail business.
Mohammad Hamed, it was zero befofe he come to St. Croix when
it come to dealing with cusifmers.

Q. Okay. So canou tell me, what was the agreement
that you had with M Hamed when you were beginning to
operate the grogery store business? What was the
arrangement/that was going to be made specifically with
regard Xo gross receipts for the shopping center and the
s that were not part of the grocery store operations?

b.\ AV I o1 o =N ad b 14 ot A
XX L ull, _Y\JM u\.,\.,, N (=R yw) - A\ S N g CIITCr C© VWITCE © A

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- CROSS

Think I nave any LfUrther questions for Mr. Tusuf oI tiLs

issue with regard to the gross receipts.

If you have gquestions and it brings up
something else, I may redirect, --

MR. HARTMANN: Sure.

MS. PERRELL: -- but I think that's it for me
right now on the gross receipts.

MR. HARTMANN: Okay,

MS. PERRELL: Mr/ Hartmann's going to ask you
some questions.
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. HARTMANN:

Q. Okay. 'd 1like to, first off, Mr. Yusuf, thank

you for being’here today. And I don't know if you remember

PRI el oom I lknow whao 7011 oo
£5 otk W He— O W—W Yot

Q. Okay. Let's talk a little bit about the original
deal back with you and Mr. Mohammad Hamed, okay? Back
when -- when you say that you agreed about gross receipts
tax and insurance, that you weren't going to pay it, okay?

When was that? Do you remember, was that

like in 1986 when you first started?

A. Before 1986.

Q. Before there was a partnership --

A. Yes.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- CROSS

thaink T howvao onss fourthor
— =t =+ e

Ty oo

issue with regard to the gross receipts.

If you have gquestions and it brings up
something else, I may redirect, --

MR. HARTMANN: Sure.

MS. PERRELL: -- but I thi that's it for me
right now on the gross receipts.

MR. HARTMANN: Ok

MS. PERRELL: r. Hartmann's going to ask you
some questions.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. HARTMANN;

Q. Okay. I'd like to, first off, Mr. Yusuf, thank
you fo eing here today. And I don't know if you remember
me
Hre——KBrow—wh

.\ PIET BV PSS
X ot Fre—we < =

3L =
Y \= -

Q. —©Hday= Let's talk a little bit about the original
deal back with you and Mr. Mohammad Hamed, okay? Back
when -- when you say that you agreed about gross receipts
tax and insurance, that you weren't going to pay it, okay?

When was that? Do you remember, was that

like in 1986 when you first started?

A. Before 1986.

Q. Before there was a partnership --

A. Yes.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- CROSS

O~ vOU agreed?
A Yeatrs
Q. Tell me a little bit about how that took place.

Like, if you remember kind of like what he said and what you

S

A. What he said, he never say nothing. Whatever I
say goes.

©- Skay-

A. And he accepted it.

o=
A. We used to have -- by the way, first we decided
put up a supermarket, it's four of us. Two of us wallfout.
And he said -- and I have to end up paying penalty’by not
keeping up my promise. And which I honor wha
give. And before I -- I told Mr. Mohamm

, Listen, I'm

facing penalty here. Are you going pay the penalty with
me or I must pick up the penalty Myself? Before you answer
me, Mr. Mohammad, if I pick the penalty myself, all the
share walk out will be mj The 25 percent each person. I
will end up owning 77 percent and you own 25 percent.

I'll hold it. 1I'll hold it this way, if

(Respite.)

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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[FATHI YUSUF -- CROSS|

Q. -- you said to him, The grocery store's got to pay
the receipts, not only for the grocery store, but also for
my —-- what your lawyer called the part of United that is
just the Yusuf, I'll call it Yusuf's United. So the gross
receipts tax would be paid not only for the grocery store,
but also for Yusufs' United?

A. Um—-hum.

Q. And you said that you told him that?

A. Yeah.

Q. And he never said anything?

A. He never said. And then I explain to him.
- Okay—

A. All my building depreciation, two-and-a-half -
two-and-a-half, $3 million, it being wiped out, cregs to
the income of this partnership. So Mohammad Hagefed, he
getting depreciation on something that he don't even own.

Q. Right.

Could you use a degpreciation at the time?

A. Sure.

Q. Did you have £nough income?

A.

Q.

A. All the -- my building value, it being wiped out

co etely to the partnership.

Q Oleasz Q A fFt v 7o olainad +hao -~ oo noao
g T O =4 e+ Tt +

Y (=3 Tro Tt T = 7

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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WALEED "WALLY" HAMED -- DIRECT

SUSaIr NISSmar. —1oday S date s vanuary 2:ist, 2020—Tthe
deponent is Waleed Hamed. The time is 11:18.

For the purpose of voice identification, Z'm
requesting the attorneys present to identify themselvgs at
this time.

MS. PERRELL: Charlotte Perrell, /An behalf of
United Corporation and Fathi Yusuf.

MR. HOLT: Joel Holt, on behalf of the

Hameds.

MR. HARTMANN: Carl HArtmann, on behalf of
the Hameds.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Please swear in the
witness.

WALEER "WALLY" HAMED,
called as a witnebs, having been first duly sworn,
testified on his ocath as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

Q. ©od morning. You've been present for the last
couple positions, and so I Jjust have a couple quick
questdons regarding the gross receipts paid by -- that

refate to the shopping center, the Plaza shopping center,

The first question I have is, were you aware

of the agreement between Mr. Fathi Yusuf and your father,

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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WALEED "WALLY" HAMED -- DIRECT

65

Mohammad Hamed, that Mr. Yusuf testified to that the grocery

store operations, the partnership,

would ultimately pay all

of the gross receipts for the shopping center? Were you

aware of that?

A. No.

11
Y o

Mr. Yusuf regarding gross receipts tax a

in time as you were

ever have 2Ny discussions with

later point

ng in the Plaza Extra East store?

D Naoczaac
F X3 N V1.

Q. Skay= Did you have any conversations -- so if you

weren't aware of it, that means you also, just to clarify,

didn't discuss that issue with your father, correct?

A. That's correct.

QOleosz AN | r1oabht
Ty - IYr T L Tgitcs

FaY
2 .

can't dispute what Mr. Yusuf has said was the arrangemen

(& 2o Lo
™ Y

o1t horo t+oda7 SO
SH—eE o e

2
==

that he had with Mohammad Hamed relating to gross receipts,

correct?

A. That's correct, but this is a

I never heard of this before. Why

before?
Q. Okay. But yo

correct?
A.

Acebrding to him,

2w notion. I mean,

never, 1t came out

weren't aware of the agreement,

there's an agreement, but

there's no agreement that I'm aware of.

auara of
el o +

L
=

2
==

0 ﬁkny You weren't
e

14

Susan C. Nissman,

(340)

773-8161

RPR-RMR
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MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF,

EEEE RN
CTT

P | <l = P basxza o
Caorrct oo o WL T

z P N n o
Iy T1iIrg— o T T

557
testified on his oath as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. PERRELL:

Q. Okay. Mike, we were askingssSome questions a few
minutes ago. I'm going to direct your attention to
Exhibit 3, which has alreddy been identified. Do you mind
if I flip him to right page here? Let's see.

All right. Just for ease, since we've

been discussing Exhibit -- this particular page, FY

5001, letme -start with that one. Tet me back 1n

=

Did you have any conversations with your
father prior to the time that he went over to St. Thomas
about how the gross receipts issues were supposed to be
resolved with the shopping center?

A. No.

Ay
J

ivvi S S 3 3 SN
\J

Y 1 3z = e = 1 o
2' I\Cl_y. L _Y\JM b/J__LlllCAJ__L_L_Y L 11 A\
checks for the tenant account here in St. Croix?

A, I -—— we -—— I wrote some, but we us ly have a

property manager.

Q. Okay. With reg to the property manager, what,
exactly, was his e?
A. oing around issuing rent, invoices, collecting

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

] 1 1 e
LII© WOLK OL WIIdaLTSVCL.

Q. —©Ska5— All right. And when you issued the check,
did you have any idea whether there had already been a prior
arrangement between your father and Mr. Hamed?

A. No, I didn't know the details back then.

Q Qkay

A. All right.

Q. And so you thought -- well, what did you thin
when you were handed this information from the prope
manager?

A. Well, usually at that time, I was ygdnger and all
the instructions I took was from Wally.

Q. Okay. All right. Did Wally gver discuss with you
the issues regarding -- or any arrapdement that had been
made with regard to the gross regfipt taxes for the shopping
center?

A. I don't remembe

Q. Okay. All rjght. Would Wally have provided you

any instructions wi regard to the tenant account?

A. t any instruction with the tenant account,
no.

Q. All right. So when you were provided this
informétion, was there any other things that Mr. Luff would

giye you and say, You need to pay this, or you need to do

> L L ] e I
T S—OoUcC ©Or Cclic CcclldllC aCCOUIIL ¢

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED -- CROSS

but I don't recall.

1o <l . il | 3 "
TTad rccTerved wecll, 1€l

me—ask—yeou—thist You're not aware -- you were not present

during the meeting that Mr. Yusuf had with Mr. Mohammad
Hamed, your father, that he testified about earlier
regarding how the gross receipts for the shopping center
were to be paid; isn't that correct?

A. Yeah, that's correct, but just because he says it,
that doesn't mean it's true.

Q. But you weren't present for the conversation, sir,
you don't know, correct?

A. No, I don't know.

Q. Okay. All right. And you never discussed that
with your father, correct?

A. No. My father would discuss everything that was
owed to Mr. Yusuf and we would know about it.

Q. Okay.

A. He wouldn't keep anything out. He wouldn't have
these secret meetings. He wouldn't have any of these other
situation. My father's an honorable man. He's an honest

man, and he was to his word.

D

1 = 1 .
C

O n ool o
- N . DU _yuu. UL UILL C 11Aa vy Qll_\/ CUIIVT L OodadULUILILOS
relating to this particular issue? And this issue ha

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- DIRECT

FATHI YUSUF,

o

atted—as howvingeenfirst duly gworn
testified on his oath as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MS. PERRELL:

Q. All right. Good morning, Mr. Yus

A. Good morning.

Q. So this particular deposiXion, this set of
depositions, is going to be reldting to a number of claims
the parties have made as gross receipts, okay? And the
payment of gross recej
recall that as a owner of United --
and I'm goingZ/to say United operating as a Yusuf entity, as
opposed ¥o United operating, or with the hat of the

ership, okay?

0. So when T say United, I'm talking about United
that is your family's entity that owns real estate and the

shopping center and so forth.

S
D

Q. Okay. Have -- has United mad to recover

for monies received from

nrs that were rorﬂ—lng at—the Unitad Sh K. Certers

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- DIRECT

—A—Repeat—the—restionr—ptease—

Q. Sleay= Has United made a claim in this lawsuit --

A. Yes.

Q. -— to recover gross receipts that has been paid by
the United on behalf of receipts from tenants that United
believes should have been paid by the partnership?

A. It should have. That's the agreement between me

and Mr. Mohammad Hamed, is the rent, it was very, very low,

$3 a square foot. Ferteredt—witihrepartmer—Just—itmpty—for

thre—rpurpose—oftretpimoirtm— e sy brotiher—tmrtaw—He
have six children. He went 1 year or 18 months in scho
I did not want any very much more, but I think abou
than six. So we both, uneducated, let's put it £his way,
and we have no trade whatsoever that we can Ase in
St. Croix, except I met Mohammad Hamed the '70s, sometime
in the '70s, and I was from the '60 £An the retail business.
Mohammad Hamed, it was zero befgofe he come to St. Croix when
it come to dealing with cus
Q. Okay. So can ou tell me, what was the agreement
that you had with M Hamed when you were beginning to
operate the grocgéry store business? What was the
arrangement Xhat was going to be made specifically with
regard gross receipts for the shopping center and the

par that were not part of the grocery store operations?

ek
o

SE ] 1 - TP I i =)
7w I1cdll, you ST, OTCaustT I totTo—rTm—theat Wit \wawy

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161

34


Carl
Rectangle

Carl
Line

Carl
Line

Carl
Line

Carl
Line

Carl
Line

Carl
Line


10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

10

FATHI YUSUF -- DIRECT

you—havwe—He—said 400,000 I know we're going to face a

project in the millions, at least $3- to $4 million. And I
know my brother-in-law have nothing beside what he save,
400,000. So for us to go into a big business way above our
financial capacity, we have no choice but to hit a lending
institute. And from experience, nobody will lend any money
without taking United Shopping Center as a collateral, and
the house, and the owner personal financial guarantee. And
based on that, I say, Listen, I am giving you this $3 a
square foot, but I'm not paying no insurance, I'm not paying

no gross receipt. The store have to take care of it.

WeTT,—Tf you fTOOK atC 1L, CNE SCOTrE 13
automatically, whether I'm a partner or not a partner.
always responsible for insurance anyhow. And the Oss
receipt from the supermarket was not involved, S0 we was
really talking less than a half a million dollars annually.
So if you look at half a million dollars, time 4 percent,
the whole thing is about $20,000

Q. Okay.

A. So we was not/really talking about big money. We
know then. Later, At went up to 5 percent.
Q. Oka Let me back up. So when this -- when this
partnershAp agreement started in 19, I'm going to say 1986,

e shopping center was up, how were the gross receipts

and who was resnonsible for r\:y-i ng thoe gross ‘I"D{“‘D‘ip"—c
T T

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF |-- CROSS

Q. —— you said to him, The grocery store's got to pay

the receipts, not only for the grocery store, but also for
my —-- what your lawyer called the part of United that is
just the Yusuf, I'll call it Yusuf's United. So the gross
receipts tax would be paid not only for the grocery store,
but also for Yusufs' United?
A. Um-hum.
And you said that you told him that?

Yeah.

Q
A
Q. And he never said anything?
A He never said. And then I explain to him.

Q Okay.

A. All my building depreciation, two-and-a-half --
two-and-a-half, $3 million, it being wiped out, credit, to
the income of this partnership. So Mohammad Hamed, he
getting depreciation on something that he don't even own.

Q. Right.

Could you use a depreciation at the time?

A. Sure.

Q. Did you have enough income?

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay.

A. All the -- my building value, it being wiped out

completely to the partnership.

F R E PN ol o
Ty oo™ oot

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- DIRECT

fin o
LU R N Ay W

1
T

Q. How did the gross receipts tax for the shopping
center get paid from 19 -- 1986 until the time of the fire?
A. It's being paid by the -- by the partnership.

Q Ofay
2 By—Hrrited

Q. Okay.

A But the -- the money in my hand, I know
100 percent is not mine. I have a partner who own/interest,
50 percent.

Q. Right.

A. And he agreed to that, that 1 gross receipt will
be paid by the store.

Q. Okay. So after the fife, did you -- when did you
move to St. Thomas to open thfe St. Thomas store?

A. I don't know, ybe '92, I believe.

0. Okay. So ter you moved to St. Thomas to develop
the St. Thomas stgre, did you coordinate with anybody back
here at the S/ Thomas -- or, I mean, excuse me, at the
Plaza Extrd East store, to make sure that those gross
receipis taxes for the shopping center were being paid by

the/partnership?

A N AV T T A2 oo+ 17 sz oo NN S vy P |
. TV . T = =4 12 - AL IIC o L L J.lL_Y u_)\JJ.J., | VA VVClJ_J__Y

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- CROSS

A Hetrave moreexperience T busIness thamr a doctor
Q. What I'm saying is, 1f you had to talk to somgbody
about something dealing with like taxes, did you t to

Mohammad or did you talk to Wally?

A. What, taxes?

Q. Taxes?

A. What did you say Jjust negWw?

0. If you needed to t to somebody about taxes,
like if you wanted to ta to -- to one of the Hameds about
taxes, would you ta to Mohammad or would you talk to
Wally?

never have to talk about taxes before -- after

0. Okay. Okay.

IS NPT SN
o .

—~
TIerv =

B After—we—oper—ap—we—doen

Q. “kay+ And who -- and who -- after you opened up
in '86, who took -- physically took care of the taxes? Who
wrote the check, et cetera?

A. Write the check, sometime I write it. Sometime

Wally write it.

Q. Wrote the check?

A. Yeah.

Q- Ok~

A. And, by the wa ave a private office.

eckbook is always in the desk FEven, let's assume,

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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WALEED "WALLY" HAMED -- DIRECT

TV e o
T [} SR N7 U s i ol W o

Q. Okay. And so that was about the ti
ect? Or he went a little

obviously went to St. Thomas,

before, but th that same time frame, correct?

Yes

A

Q. —Hkay-= And so before Mr. Yusuf left, did you have
anything to do with the writing of any checks for the gross
receipts, either for the grocery store operations, or any
other gross receipts taxes?

A. Like I told you, I had nothing to with the
shopping center whatsoever.

And as far as me signing checks, we opened
Plaza Extra East in 1986. I didn't have any signing
check -- I mean, I had no authority to sign checks. Fathi

was the only one who signed the checks --

Q. Okay.

A. -- for the Plaza Extra East.

Q. When was it you were given authority to sign
checks?

A. Sometime probably 3-4 years after that.

Q. Okay. So would that be early '90s?

A. I'm not sure. I think probably after we moved to
St. Thomas, or right after we moved to St. Thomas.

Q. Okay. Because at that point, Mr. Yusuf would be

gone and somebody would need to do it on behalf of the East

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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WALEED "WALLY" HAMED -- DIRECT

store?
A. I believe around that time, yes.
Q. Okay. So that makes sense. All right.
Q. (Mr. Hartmann) And Jjust for the record, what was

the date of that?

A. The date of?
Q. When you opened St. Thomas.
A. St. Thomas, I believe it's in '94.

!R I}aRﬂ&A\T\T. rav| Sz
. VAN o \/I\(:L_Y .

Q. (Ms. Perrell) Which was also shortly after the
fire and so forth; is that right?

A. Yes.

0. Okay. All right. So before Mr. Yusdf left to go
to St. Thomas, was there any sit-down that/you had with him
regarding any of the -- the documents,

any of the paperwork,

anything that needed to be done?

A. No.
Q. Okay.
A. Fathi Yusuf ways took care of that.

Q. Okay. B when he went to St. Thomas, you picked
up that role?
Apfsolutely not. He continued doing it himself

accountants that he had in St. Thomas.

Okay. But for every check that was written at the

M S| | A 1 T I ] T P —l . 1 1
oIrrTce™ TCC I donh you CIITS. UL LI LITTIIYS  LIIdUl yOUu [1dU
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26

maszh ono _Ar  tuio 10 ~h-aol EEPS IR AN S RS SN~ B 2 S Y = B | et
TLLCL T 1 - =V - = T Ll = = 1L A= LJ_I_y A AJ_Y V\ILA._L_L_Y, N e LT
cobtd—pe able Lo soa Sbo

Q. Sk~ And -- and during that time, you had to --
even back in those days, you had to fill out a sheet, right,

for the gross receipts tax every month?

A. Yes.

Q. Yeah. And was -- did one of you, in particular,
do it, or did whoever do it?

A. No, the man who collecting the rent. I don't

collect rent.

I used to have a manager.

- Heary—

A. Or several managers.

0. Okay. So you had a manager who filled out the tax
forms --

A. Yeah.

Q. -— and then paid them?

A. Yes.

©- SEonan

A. He asked for a check and check would be written

and give to him.

Q-

Ok roemembeor what that

person

A
Q

's name was?

»

¥4
ety o

I have no idea. I

1ssman, RPR-RMR
773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- CROSS

0. Okay.

from the time you opened until you left for St.

And -- and did it stay that way from --

Thomas 1n

'927?
A. Yes.
o
A. This is my -- this is the deal we havy
Q. Okay. And then in -- as nderstand it -- now,

from 1992 on,

after yo

oved to St. Thomas, you moved at

so we'll say -- I think your claim is for

end of '92,

In other words,

So —-- so when you moved to St. Thomas at the

did the taxes continue to get paid the same way?

did your manager --

A. I would assume so.

Q. Okay. But you don't know?

A. I don't know.

©- Sy —Ard—did—here—ever—come—a—time—wheR—you

got -- you,

A. Never involved in the taxes. I

able to do the work and they're suppg

instruction.

Q. Okay.

yourself,

got involved in the taxes agai

al s have be

d to follow

always, most of the time, depending on Wally

e work, not his father.
R1 ghf
Susan C. Nissman,
(340) 773-816
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FATHI YUSUF -- CROSS

LD L, \
\ANCOP L LT . )

Okay. I'm going to ask you to log

your counsel could help you. Can get him to that page?

ottt ing +that I'11
=) ==

I'm showing the witness Exhibit F, which has
been marked as Exhibit 3 for the purposes of this
deposition, which previously the witness identified as his

claim.

MO PRRRIFTT .
L3 T o A ANINI LI LT .

HH
dqr

little out of order. That's why I was wonderi
MR. HARTMANN: Take your time.
Here it is. Sorry. It just

er originally.

Q. (Mr. Hartmann) And what I'm referring to is marked

with a Bates Stamp Number Exhibit FY 015001.

AN mignt I fead Just @ rittier

MS. PERRELL: Yeoh
MS- LI+ Yeoh.

Q. (Mr. Hartmann) What I'm showing you is a check
written on United Corporation Tenants Account.
A. Um-hum, vyes.

Q. The tenants' account, not -- not on the

partnership account.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- CROSS

A. Yeah.

Q. And -- and it's Check Number 1870 -- I'm sorry,
1674, dated 8-27-99. And itself written to the Government
of the Virgin Islands for gross receipts taxes for July. 1In
the notation, it says July of '99. And it's accompanied by

a —— by a form that was submitted with it.

Do you see that check?

A. Yes, it's in front of me.

Q. Okay. And could you tell me whose signature

appears on that check?

A. I believe this is my son, Mike.
4Q. O}\a_y.

A. Maher Yusuf.
Q. And -- and do you recognize the signature -- the

presented name and the signature on the form below it?

A Betow?

Q. I think it says Thomas.

A. I don't know who's that.

Q. Thomas Luff.

A. I don't know. I don't know. I tell you, I'm in
St. Thomas.

—©= S-S S

A. That must be the manager of the shopping center.

Q. So this is a check from 1999 paying the gross

receipts tax.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF -- CROSS

A. Um-hum.
Q. Written on the tenants' account, and it's signed

by your son, Mike?

A. Right.
o Not—Toy watty?
A. Sir, I told you, my son never been advised

whatsoever about the partnership. I was never discussed/it,

anything with my son. And I was always fighting with/his

mother, Let your son knows everything. I said, Ljkten,
honey, my son have to respect my opinion. I hae to have my
partner at -- at peace. I dealing with a pgrtner. I'm

obligated to my partner. I am not obliggted to one of my
ten children. They have to go with whfatever I say.

Q. Okay. I guess the questfon I'm asking, though, is
that you weren't there?

A. And my son didn't Know.

Q. And your son didn't know, but your son was still
signing the stuff?

A. Yes, his /ignature is on the account.

Q. And if/you'll turn over to the next page.

ou'll see a check. 1It's Bates Number FY 015000,

s dated -- a check on the United Corporation Tenants

Accgunt dated 9-30-99. Says it's for the payments of August

= a 3 LM
A= <

rou—see—that—one?

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS

Dol ol aa A i aon T
RN ToTrcr o T

o
DA T

FaY
¥ .

—Fisspoker

When I say you didn't know anything at all

before 2012, you knew some stuff?

A. I did.
Q. And, for instance, on this, you knew that some o
the times, the partnership paid its own -- paid the tenant

account and sometimes the tenant paid the tenants' --

f

s 1

A. Yes.
Q. -— gross receipts taxes?
A. Yes.
Nerw—ear—F—ada—something—teo—that>
Q. You can add whatever you'd like.
A. Okay. See, who -- who paid it and what acgdunt it
came out of is irrelevant. It is the debit sidesthat is --

has the most relevance to me, because if t debit side is

going to a due to/from account, it's ewfirely different th
if the debt's going to an expense Account called taxes,
gross receipts. If it's goi to a due to/from account,
it's accumulating to be fesolved at some future point.
Q. Exactly.
A. o what happened was, I will say that it
got -- aw a little bit of -- oh, I hate to use the word

conf@Sion, but in the due to/from accounting, depending on

an

LA L L, : : Ly L += £ 1 ul E |
TWITO deJ_Li L UL L Ly L L LT WTIIU L L LT _dadlliicT  UUuT UL CTTCTYy T C

=
=2
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| JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS |

o recouTt TS
So your forty-four thousand is -- is
a set period?
A. That's correct.
Q. And you said th the source of your information
about the

the partnership was supposed to pay for

the ten gross receipts tax was Mr. Yusuf?

A Correct

Q. And Mr. Yusuf told you what?

A. Well, he just told me that his agreement had
always been that the gross receipts taxes for the shopping
center were to be paid by Plaza. The -- the -- T will say
that I had conversations with the former controller, Margie
Soeffing, about that too, and she was under the -- she was

under the same guideline.

O Ol o sz AN P PN A | o o]
N . \JI\O._Y . L3I T Adalluu ULUuU _YULA UL _yuu. AASES 11a Ve

a —— is there like a file or any written backup or co
an agreement or anything that would support it
purposes of, for instance, a GAAP-type accounting?
A. I'm not sure I underst completely what your
question is as far as GAAP 4dccounting, but the answer is no,
the -- the accounti for -- that I did was -- was based

upon my convexSations with Mr. Yusuf. But also I set it up

€ to/from item because I also had conversations with

+ leornatb o+
A= R—— ClicA T

ya'd T DT NP
TTgCTTIT e T WO

and T —— T avrnlasdrnad + haim =
-+ - P—=h o—=o—+1H =
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JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS
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accountant a little pause to say, Okay, wait a minute. Hg
do I handle this now because this is inconsistent. La
month, it was paid by the Plaza, and I just posted At to the
due to/from account. Now this time it was --

es it go to

the due to/from account or does it not? Yo see what I'm

saying?
Q. Right.
A. So, in other words, it/s really the debit side of

it, how that's treated, that/really is relevant to me.
Q. Okay. And -- d so prior to your getting there,

how -- how accurate s the accountant at getting those

things into the rXght due to/from account?

I will probably -- the best I can say is that

there were honest people trying to do it, okay?

But t -— there -- there was some -- a little bit of
coffused accounts and it was hard to get to -- it was hard
to ga'l- rock solid —— +to rock gsolid numbers,

Q. Okay. So going back to my GAAP question again,
you said that -- you said that you had no personal knowledge
and that no documents in there, but that you could make some
sort of statement about consistency.

What statement could you make about
consistency?

A. Well, there was an effort to basically treat the

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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| JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS)|

payments that were being made on behalf of the shopping
center gross receipts taxes as a due to/from item.

Q. Okay. So if I understand what you're saying is
they weren't trying to pay the tenant gross receipts taxes
out of the partnership, or they were?

A. I -- T believe, and I'm going to just say I
believe because T believe that Margie was trying to account
for it as a due to/from item. And what was happening is
occasionally it would come up and she would be pressured

into expensing it.

Q Qkay

A. And so the -- the -- you know, the issue is an
older issue than just January 1st of 2013.

When I came on board on January 1 of 2013,

a due to/from

categorically I said, No, I'm recording it a

item. I'm not going to -- I'm not going/to argue with one

party or the other. I'm going to regCord it as a due to/from

item. Took me a while, but I ent some time with Mafi. I

convinced him of that. A what happened was, in those --

mean, they —-- in ordep”to get them to sign the checks, they
had to be conving&d of it, and -- and Mafi might have
forgotten wh who forced him to pay it, but what -- in
fact, t it was, it was being convinced to pay it. I was

basitally saying, Look, I'm setting it up as due to/from

1tem T+'e comethina +hot 710 o-on rocnlszg Years from nots A
= - X = e or—R-oW

I

4~
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137

VAR — o o Al
T A

11 I
L

—Q-

pr = Iy T

misspoke.

before 2012, nhew some stuff?

A, I did

] IR I
STy Yoo TIair Gy

t know anything at all

Q. And, for instance, on thi

the times, the partnership paid its

account and sometimes the tenant pa

s, you knew that some of
own -- paid the tenants'

id the tenants' --

A. Yes.
Q. -— gross receipts taxes?
A. Yes.
Now—ear—F—ada—semething—to—that>
Q. You can add whatever you'd like.
A. Okay. See, who -- who paid it and what agcfount it

came out of is irrelevant.
has the most relevance to me, becau
going to a due to/from account, it'
if the debt's going to an expensg” a

gross receipts. If it's goifig to a

it's accumulating to bg” resolved at
Q. Exactly

so what happened was,
got -- saw a little bit of -- oh,

ision, but in the due to/from a

It is the debit si

se if e debit side 1is

s ghtirely different than
ccount called taxes,

due to/from account,

some future point.

I will say that it
I hate to use the word

ccounting, depending on

wWire b)cu'_d ot J’.t, HHF——werre i+ —eame—out f—ther—tet'ls-
Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8l61
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JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS

QQ

11 I hl FEaY
TrCaTr v o Oorar ggreemeITe:

MS. PERRELL: Objection. Also objection as
to form and speculation. And --

MR. HARTMANN: No, I'm asking him why We did
it.

MS. PERRELL: Well, I mean, the whole fact
that there's a partnership is an oral partnerghip with no

paperwork and no paper trail, so —--

Q. (Mr. Hartmann) So he can answe
Go ahead.
A. Well, no. I mean, I recofnized very quickly what

Mr. Yusuf told me was the agreemgnt between him and Mohammad
Hamed was their agreement. Apd there was no way I was going
to be able to prove it.

What happgned was, when it came down to now
we had to take action/ we had to get it paid, I was caught
in the middle of, if£'s got to be paid by them, okay?

It's -- and I wag caught in the middle. And I said, Okay.
The easy way ¢ut for me is to account for this as a due
to/from it and not even -- not even engage in the argument
with eitfer side.

Right.

Just account for it as a due to/from.

aal o PN ale T =l . o1
W o [TUCT ao Ty T JIIUT L oLdadlll

ol ot
A et

+hat. And what I'm asking is, and the only reason that came

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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JOHN GAFFNEY -- REDIRECT

up, the only reason you were placed in that position is Mr.
Hamed -- Mr. Yusuf told you that there was some old oral
agreement that would have the partnership pay the tenant
account's gross receipts tax; is that correct?

A. That, plus the fact I did see some evidence of the
same 1issue existing before 2000 -- I started the, you know,

doing the conversion in January of 2013.

PP N <l ISEEES PRIEIPN PN S
A= o o T

O (al I~ 1 9 Sz = Sl
N . (A _yuu O IITUUN _Y\JbLJ_ 11T A _YCD, C DA - TT

word yes.
A. Oh, I'm sorry, yes.

MR. HARTMANN: Okay. nk you. I have no
further questions.
CT EXAMINATION
BY MS.

I have one follow-up question to that.

.\ yau!
r OR&Y~

Q. You said you saw some evidence. And that evidence
was you had had some conversations with a lady that was the
accountant. What was her name?

A. Margie Soeffing.

- Rierre Are—thet—it—was—TrerurderstarndInTg ==
MR—HARTMANN:— Object. Hearsay
Q. (Ms. Perrell) You -- you spoke with her directly,
right?
A. I've spoke with her directly, yes.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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151

Q. And as a result of that conversation,

an understanding how the tenant -- how the shopping center

gross receipts were to be paid, at least what was --

A. Well, Margie -- Margie flip-flopped back and

forth, and she admitted to it, to me that she did.
did tell me that, you know, sometimes under pressure from
Mr. Yusuf, she would start feeling like she needed to write

it off, and then sometimes under, I don't know whether she

was getting pressure from anybody else, I can't say

specifically, but she would -- she did have a tendency to

also try and treat it as a due to/from item,

Q. All right. So that you understood that there were

folks that were treating it both ways?

A. Yeah.

too.

did you have

And she

IO Pm'r'r 1 Al . lode
o . L. URKdAdY . ALl L IUIIt.,

questions.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This is a concl

MR. HARTMANN: Yes. No,
THE VIDEOGRAPHER:
the deposition. The time is 1:
recess taken.)

JOHN GAFFNEY

DIRECTEXAMINATION—
DI

is a continuation of

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This is the continuation

deposition of John Gaffney. The time is 2:33.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED -- RECROSS

12 e | Z
) LJ—_Y.
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Q. So just to be clear, when you say it was resolve
at a later date or settled at a later date, what do you plean
by that?

A. Well, what happened was after some of the¢/ larger
items were resolved, meaning inventory, fixed asgets, those
were -- those were the various meetings, ther¢ were still a
number of items on the balance sheet that kept on saying
that we need to -- we need to resolve thése, because we're
trying to get it down to a couple of #ssets, namely the
securities account and namely the sh accounts. Then --
and basically get it down to its/simplicity.

One of the iteps that we had, one substantial
item that we had was very vious on the balance sheet, was
a $900,000 payment that stas made to the V.I. Bureau of
Internal Revenue for Zhe quarterly estimated taxes for the
Yusufs. So Joel H¢lt brought that up in a conference call
and said that thét needs to be repaid, and we agreed. That
became part of the due to/from items, along with the gross
receipts tgxes, the accumulation of the gross receipts

ich, at that point, had accumulated to about

Okay.

__A —— from Joanuarsz lot
—SE€

<rrrorerT

20712 foproo ol
7 T = WL U .

Q. Skay. So as we sit here today, has the

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED -- RECROSS

partnership paid for the United Shopping Center's gross
receipt taxes from January of '1l3 forward until the split?

A. On the books right now, you know, that -- that --
I don't mind pointing out this schedule, but this was --
this was my effort to try and highlight everything that
needed to be discussed between the two parties. And -- and
ultimately what happened was in a meeting with Judge Ross,
Mr. Yusuf and I, we spent quite a bit of time on this, and
the point was argued about who was supposed to be incurring
the cost of the shopping center. Judge Ross finally said,
Okay. For our purposes right now, go ahead, and let's, you
know, let's go ahead. I proposed a Jjournal entry. I
proposed a journal entry so that we could get these off the
books. And then the point about the $44,000 in the gross
receipts taxes could be argued later.

But ultimately what happened was, once I

posted that journal entry, I expensed $44,000 to taxes,

gross receipts, and I did that in 2015.

o= Skay—So—+f—+F Tl et et
that into --

A. Okay.

Q. -—- laymen non-accoun g speak, okay?
A. Okay.

my understanding of this laymen version of

at vou just described is that clearly there was debate,

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS

11 I
L

Ll PAN T 1 PRI IO
O~ Lenel— Syt e et STy you—CoTraiT Ty

misspoke.
t know anything at all

before 2012, nhew some stuff?

A, I did
Q. And, for instance, on this, you knew that some of
the times, the partnership paid its own -- paid the tenants'

account and sometimes the tenant paid the tenants' --

A. Yes.
Q. -— gross receipts taxes?
A. Yes.
Now, carmr T add—somethitg—to that?
- Yeou—eanr—add—whatever—youla—tiice
A. Okay. See, who -- who paid it and what account it
came out of is irrelevant. It is the debit side that is --

has the most relevance to me, because if the debit side is
going to a due to/from account, it's entirely different than
if the debt's going to an expense account called taxes,
gross receipts. If it's going to a due to/from account,

it's accumulating to be resolved at some future point.

o~ Exactiy-

A. And so what happened was, I will

got -—— I saw a little bit o = oh, I hate to use the word

confusion, n the due to/from accounting, depending on

ol . HE = EAE = =
WITO para rTofr Ity If ItC weirc T3¢ T =3= £—&h

— laot !
ottt oo Tt

fal

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS

132

that they could resolve later on.

Q. I understand that, and we appz

this is that "later on time.

A. Right.
-- so what I'm
T fforaont quasﬁ—imn than how

2O did -1+ Tt
S == T =+

And

asking is kind of a slightly

A 1
Y =3 ==

[ e g e oy

gt just tell me very briefly, what is GAAP?
A. Generally accepted accounting principles.
Q. Okay. And what is -- what is it used for?
A. Well, it covers basically the entire subject of

accounting for businesses,

-

£ T b oo oo oo PP N NP~ I~ INE
L L L L £ 11V T ja J_Cb/u_LJ_ A \./UlleJJ_CLJAJ\J_L [y (=3

it's appropriate to charge it to repairs and maintenance

okay? And so GAAP would sort of have something to with
that, and -- and --

Q. Okay. Let's use that example.

A. Okay.

Q. If T was going to chazfge repairs to a
refrigerator, I would gef-An invoice from the person who

repaired it, that w d go into my books.

when the IRS op“someone else came knocking,
and show

correct?

A Correct,

And later on,

I would go back

em that document to show why it was in there; is

/=X~
4

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS

132

that they could resolve later on.
Q. I understand that, and we appz
this is that "later on time.
A. Right.
T fferent guestion—than—how

2O did -1+ Tt
S == T =+

And

-- so what I'm asking is kind of a slightly

A 1
Y =3 ==

[ e g e oy

gt just tell me very briefly, what is GAAP?

A. Generally accepted accounting principles.

Q. Okay. And what is -- what is it used for?

A. Well, it covers basically the entire subject of

accounting for businesses, but—simptypot—Ffeor—nstancer

2 £ T Koss + rarnailxr o
L i S £ = = - D./M_I_J_ =13

TICt v

okay? And so GAAP would sort of hav
that, and -- and --

Q.

Let's use that example.

Qlasz
4

omething to do with

Q. If T was going to charge repairs to a

refrigerator, I would get an invoice from the person who

repaired it, that would go into my books. And later on,

when the IRS or someone else came knocking,

I would go back

and show them that document to show why it was in there; is

that correct?

A. Correct, vyes.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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I ey John Gaffney -- Direct

you if this document is something that you had initially
prepared without the handwriting, Jjust the typed pettions?

A. Yes, this is -- this is something tkfat I prepared
every month.

Q. Okay. And you did this g& part of your duties as
the partnership accountant?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And”included in there is a payment for or a

potential paymerft for the gross receipts due for the Plaza

Extra shoping -- I'm sorry, for the United Shopping Center
in 7 Croix; is that right?
A (‘mrrahi—, S

0. Skay= And what was your understanding as to why
the gross receipts for the shopping center, which was not
part of the partnership, would be paid by the partnership?

A. Just discussions with Mr. Yusuf over the
agreement, the purported agreement that the shopping center
gross receipts taxes are to be paid by the -- by Plaza

Extra.

@) Qkasz And did there comoe o n©oint
o S = rae G5

Hamed side, or the Hamed family, objected to payment of

those gross receipt taxes for nited Shopping Center?

Dod wih ot g +h = I
oo Tt TTIICT

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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133

JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS

Q. G¥kay+— And is there any such document with regard
to this agreement? That's all I'm asking.

A. No.

Q. &kay— And -- and would this -- would this --
would the documentation that you have with regard to this,
survive an audit under GAAP?

A. Yes, it could survive an audit under GAAP, based
upon consistency, because sometimes agreements are made.
They're not necessarily always in writing. And then what
happens is if something has been handled a certain way for

so many years and --

L)
D
D)

A. -- so many months, it could -- it could be

actually easily accepted.

Q- okay—T'm going to show vou—-a—document that'sg
been labeled Exhibit 1, which is Chart 1. And I'l1l
represent to you that the entire period that's i ink
there, this was paid -- this was paid by o or the other of
the parties for the other. I'm not ing to tell you which
paid for whom.

Can -- cC you tell from looking at that
document who paid ose taxes for 2003 through 2000 -- I

mean, I'm ry, 1993 through 200172

MS. PERRELL: I'm going to object to —--

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS

settiTg—up o o due—toAfromtTtem so—that—coutdt—Pe—sometiring
that they could resolve later on.

Q. I understand that, and we app Tate that. And

this is that "later on time.
A. Right.

so what I'm asking is kind of a slightly

2 3+ T oo P £
A L L T = e i S ey WL O [ S . SN W) L

1T fferent cuecstion thaon hoo 7o
=T —t= T TrerTT T vy Y y= 3 o

&+ just tell me very briefly, what is GAAP?

A. Generally accepted accounting principles.
Q. Okay. And what is -- what is it used for?
A. Well, it covers basically the entire subject of

accounting for businesses, buwt—si+mptyptt;—for—itrstearce;

o= = 1

+F H—F—thevre—to—repair—a——compressor—E
it's appropriate to charge it to repairs and main
okay? And so GAAP would sort of have ething to do with
that, and -- and --

et's use that example.

Q. If T was going to charge repairs to a
refrigerator, I would get an invoice from the person who
repaired it, that would go into my books. And later on,
when the IRS or someone else came knocking, I would go back
and show them that document to show why it was in there; is
that correct?

A. Correct, vyes.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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JOHN GAFFNEY -- CROSS

Q. Skay+- And is there any such document with regard
to this agreement? That's all I'm asking.

A. No.

Ol Dl a1 A 1o o RPN
J LA T AL 1L LAY g sp W § ClLI 1O \AU o e

A +h
T

O~ ey
would the documentation that you have with regard to this,
survive an audit under GAAP?

A. Yes, it could survive an audit under GAAP,
upon consistency, because sometimes agreements are
They're not necessarily always in writing. And/then what
happens is if something has been handled a cgrtain way for
so many years and --

Q. Okay.

A. -- so many months, it cou/d -- it could be
actually easily accepted.

Q. Okay. I'm going to/show you a document that's
been labeled Exhibit 1, whZch is Chart 1. And I'l1l
represent to you that tHhe entire period that's in pink
there, this was paid/-- this was paid by one or the other of
the parties for e other. I'm not going to tell you which
paid for whom.
Can -- can you tell from looking at that
who paid whose taxes for 2003 through 2000 -- I
I'm sorry, 1993 through 200172

MS. PERRELL: I'm going to object to —--

MR. HARTMANNT That' s okady.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161

76


Carl
Rectangle

Carl
Line

Carl
Line

Carl
Line

Carl
Line


273

C-E-R-T-I-F-I-C-A-T-E

I, SUSAN C. NISSMAN, a Registered Merit Reporter
and Notary Public for the U.S. Virgin Islands,
Christiansted, St. Croix, do hereby certify that the above
and named witnesses, FATHI YUSUF, MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF, WALEED
"WALLY" HAMED, NEJEH YUSUF, MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED, and JOHN
GAFFNEY, were first duly sworn to testify the truth; that
said witnesses did thereupon testify as is set forth; that
the answers of said witnesses to the oral interrogatories
propounded by counsel were taken by me in stenotype and
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my personal
direction and supervision.

T further certify that the facts stated in the caption
hereto are true; and that all of the proceedings in the
course of the hearing of said deposition are correctly and
accurately set forth herein.

I further certify that I am not counsel, attorney or
relative of either party, nor financially or otherwise
interested in the event of this suit.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as such
Registered Merit Reporter on this the 22nd day of February,

2020, at Christiansted, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands.

My Commission Expires: Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
June 28, 2023 NP 234-19
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Hamed SOF 9 11, 14

Deposition Cites
52:12-17
53:8-22

54:5-11, 13-22
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Exhibit 5



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

WALEED HAMED, as the Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant,

VS.

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION

Defendants and Counterclaimants,
VS.

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,

MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and

PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Counterclaim Defendants.

WALEED HAMED, as the Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,
VS.
UNITED CORPORATION,

Defendant.

WALEED HAMED, as the Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,
VS.
FATHI YUSUF,

Defendant.

HAMED’S FIFTH REQUEST

Case No.: SX-2012-CV-370

ACTION FOR DAMAGES,
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND
DECLARATORY RELIEF

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Consolidated with

Case No.: SX-2014-CV-287

ACTION FOR DECLARATORY
JUDGMENT

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Consolidated with

Case No.: SX-2014-CV-278

ACTION FOR DEBT AND
CONVERSION

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

EXHIBIT
S)

FOR THE PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS 28-36 OF 50
TO YUSUF PURSUANT TO THE CLAIMS DISCOVERY PLAN OF 1/29/2018

HAMDG58937
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References to "Exhibits" are to the Exhibits to Yusuf's First Set Of Discovery served on
Hamed on March 23, 2018.

TS5 Z0 01 9U"

SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME AS YUSUF RFPD 2. Please produce any and all financial

statements or applications for financing for United, as well as Fathi, Mike, Nejeh an
Yusuf Yusuf or any company controlled more than 49%, submitted to any pers6n or

institution from September 17, 2006 to present.

Response:

RFPDs 29 of 50:

SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME AS YUSUF RFPD/4. Please produce copies of any

accountings prepared by or on behalf of United” or any member of the Hamed or Yusuf

families in the Criminal Case to demonstrate the Partnership's or United's income.

Response:

RFPDs 30 of 50:

SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME AS YUSUF RFPD 5. Please produce copies of all original

tax returns #led by United, Fathi, Mike, Nejeh and Yusuf Yusuf from 1986 to date.

89
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DUDLEY, TOPPER
AND FEUERZEIG, LLP
1000 Frederiksberg Gade
P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, U.S V| 00804-0756
(340) 774-4422

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant,
V.

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION

Defendants/Counterclaimants,
V.

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Additional Counterclaim Defendarits.

2

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,
V.

UNITED CORPORATION,

Defendant.

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,
\'2

FATHI YUSUF,

Defendant.

N N N N N N N N N S N S N N e N S N S v N N N N N N N S N N N N N N’ e’

CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370
ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE
RELIEF, DECLARATORY
JUDGMENT, AND

PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION,
WIND UP, AND ACCOUNTING

Consolidated With

CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-287

ACTION FOR DAMAGES AND
DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

CIVIL NO. SX-14-CV-278

ACTION FOR DEBT AND
CONVERSION

YUSUF’S AMENDED ACCOUNTING CLAIMS
LIMITED TO TRANSACTIONS OCCURRING ON OR AFTER SEPTEMBER 17, 2006

HAM D65854|5
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Hamed v. Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370
Yusuf’s Amended Accounting Claims
Page 10

61552410051 8—Suchinterestcontintes—to—acerae—at-the-datty—rate-of$ Feuntthpaid: |
See calculation of interest on Bays 5 and 8 rent attached as Exhibit E to the Ortginal Claims.
Disputed/Undisputed, Ripe for Determination—oF Discovery Needed: It is Yusuf’s

position that the issue of interest upos-thie unpaid rent for Bays 5 and 8 cannot be adjudicated

until the claim fortheTnpaid rent is resolved. Once the unpaid rent for Bays 5 and 8 is resolved,

- pniere 3 LH-3 o0 shalla¥e ‘.5 !"""_5‘ ATV D

C. Reimbursement For Gross Receipts Taxes Paid by United

As Yusuf has testified without contradiction (see transcript of Yusuf’s deposition of April
2, 2014 at pages 53-4), the Partners originally agreed that the Plaza Extra Stores would pay all
gross receipts taxes and insurance relating to United’s Shopping Center. The Partners acted on
this agreement for the life of the Partnership, as reflected in the actual payment of these expenses
with funds from the Plaza Extra Stores for more than 28 years. The Partnership owes United for
certain gross receipts taxes United paid on behalf of the Partnership totaling $60,586.96, which
were never reimbursed. See Exhibit F to the Original Claims, Summary and Evidence of United

Payment of Gross Receipts Taxes.

Niconva Noadad.
v ws Ly sas s c v v 4 acar

sevuy GO "

disputed. The Master will need to determine whether United’s gross receipts taxesard insurance
were treated as part of the expenses of the Partnership. AdditionaldiScovery is needed on this

issue.
DUDLEY, TOPPER
AND FEUERZEIG, LLP D. Black Book Balance Owed to United
1000 Frederiksberg Gade
o Box 7ot A black ledger book«the “Black Book™) was used by the Partners to track spending and

St. Thomas, U.S. V.I 00804-0756
(340) 774-4422

withdrawals_asbetween the Partners and their families as well as by United on behalf of the

92
HAMDG658534
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Hamed v. Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370
Yusuf’s Amended Accounting Claims
Page 24

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 30™ day of October, 2017, I caused the foregoing Yusuf’s
Amended Accounting Claims Limited to Those Claims Arising After September 17, 2012 to
be served upon the following via e-mail:

Joel H. Holt, Esq. Carl Hartmann, III, Esq.

LAW OFFICES OF JOEL H. HOLT 5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L-6
2132 Company Street Christiansted, VI 00820
Christiansted, V.1. 00820 Email: carl@carlhartmann.com
Email: joelholtpc@gmail.com

Mark W. Eckard, Esq. Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq.
Eckard, P.C. C.R.T. Building

P.O. Box 24849 1132 King Street

Christiansted, VI 00824 Christiansted, VI 00820

Email: mark@markeckard.com Email: jeffreymlaw@yahoo.com

The Honorable Edgar A. Ross
Email: edgarrossjudge@hotmail.com

G\Am B

R:ADOCS\62 S4\I\DRFTPLDG\17J0526.DOCX

DUDLEY, TOPPER
AND FEUERZEIG, LLP
1000 Frederiksberg Gade
P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, U.S. V.I. 00804-0756
{340) 774-4422
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DUDLEY, TOPPER
AND FEUERZEIG, LLP
1000 Frederiksberg Gade
P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, U.S. V.I. 00804-0756
(340) 774-4422

HAMDG6603¢

E-Served: May 15 2018 10:30PM AST Via Case Anywhere

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant,
V.

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION,

Defendants/Counterclaimants,
\2

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Additional Counterclaint Defendants.
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,
V,

UNITED CORPORATION,

Defendant.
WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the

Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,
V.

FATHI YUSUF,
Defendant.

FATHI YUSUF and
UNITED CORPORATION,

Plaintiffs,
V.
THE ESTATE OF MOHAMMAD HAMED,
Waleed Hamed as Executor of the Estate of
Mohammad Hamed, and

THE MOHAMMAD A. HAMED LIVING TRUST

Defendants.
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